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wilitary stores. To express the full confidence of the British
Government in its power. To explain the facility of eutting
off the supplies of the enemy, and withholding from them the
produce of the country.

“To avoid a declaration of non-interference in case of the
renewal of his attacks upon the Cis-Sutlejean states, and fto
manage that delicate question as well as T can. To show a
disposition to accede to engagements of a strictly defensive
natute if proposed; but to refer the question for the decision of
Government, exeept in an evident emergency.

«To facilitate the Mission to Cabul and establish a prelimi-
nary intercourse with the Court, and to cstablish a channel of
intelligence and communication to the westward. Not to
announce the intended Mission to Cabul until after its departure
from Dihlee, but to be prepared to remove from Runjeet
Singh's mind any jealousy or apprehension. No objection to
disclosing the object of the Cabul Mission after having disclosed
my own, otherwise to attribute it to motives which cannot
injure him.

To collect and communicate every information regarding
the political state of the country, also respecting those points
which it is expedient to ascertain with reference to the march
and supply of troops. To ascertain the routes through which
it is practicable for an army to march from Persia fo the
Indus. To communicate information respecting the geography
of the countries to the westward of that river.

“ To discover the real disposition of Runjeet Singh towsids
the British Government, and to regulate my negotiations
sccordingly. To inquire respecting his resources, iroops,
government, dominion, relations with other states, &e. deo.
To discourage Mehtab Kour and ker mother quoad their plat.
To do away the effect of Captain Matthews's proceedings. To
inquire into the reported intrigue with Holkar and Ammnut
R&O.“

To one of Metealie’s aspiring temper, not the
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least of the attractions of this new employment was
derived from the considerations of the great extent

of country over which he was to be permitted,-

under certain contingencies, to spread the network
of his diplomacy. He already saw himself de-
spatching emissaries to the Courts of Cabul and
Teheran, and baffling the giganiic intrigues of Na-
poleon and Alexander throughout the whole ex-
panse of Central Asia. But his enthusiasm was
always tempered with sound good sense, and when
he committed to writing, more for his own guidance
than for any other purpose, his views of the course
which. it was expedient to pursue with reference to
a correspondence with those distant Courts, there
was nothing discernible in the paper but the work-
ings of a plain, practical mind :

1t appears from the minute of the Governor-General and
the instructions which I have received, that the Mission to
Lahore will considerably precede that to Cabul, and his Lord-

ship has expressed an expectation that I may have the means of

facilitating the latter Mission, and of establishing a preliminary
intercourse with the Court of Cabul. It is proper, therefore,
for me to consider how I can best carry these instructions into
execution.

* The nncertainty existin g respecting the time at which M.
Elphinstone will proceed on his mission, givesrisc to some doubs
regarding the proper plan for me to pursue. Ifany great delay
were in contemplation, I should think it right for me in the
first instance to endeavor to open a correspondence with the
Minister of the King of Cabul of a general friendl y nature, and
to refrain from any communication of the intentions of Govern-
ment to send an Envoy to Cabul until T had sscertained the
disposition of the Court, and found & proper opportunity. In

L
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this case, I should think it right to despatch a native agent to
Cabul, with a letter to the Wuzeer, requesting permission for
him to attend the Court on my part, for the purpose of sending
me aceount of the welfare of his Majesty, and of establishing a
medium of friendly communication. This is all that T should
think it advieable to do at first; and I should expect that
oppottunities would oceur of proceeding further in the course
of the correspondence which would probably follow this intro-
duction. I should not, if I were to act according to my own
judgment, charge ths native with any directions to sound the
Ministers respecting the disposition of the King; nor should I
make him acquainted with the views of Government, because I
would not on any account put it into his power to commit the
dignity of Government.

“ Tn the case stated, it is supposed that there may be that
interval between my arrival at Lahore and Mzr. Elphinstone’s
departure from Dihlee, which would admit of a general friendly
correspondence with the Court of Cabul previous to announcing
the intention of Government to send an Envoy. But if Mr.
Elphinstone is to proceed on his mission at an earlier period
than has been supposed, the line of conduet above mentioned
would not answer; and in that case it would, I think, be
advisable, and most suitable to the character of the British
Giovernment, to announce its intentions in a dignified and open
manner, by sending a native as the bearer of a letter directly
to the Court. It is scarcely possible that the King of Cabul
would wantonly insult the British Government by any improper
reply to this notice; and the expediency of making this direct
advance is considerably strengthened by the probability that &
teport of the intended Mission may reach Cabul before the
desired intercourse can be opened with the Court. It is, hows
ever, probable, that the measures already adopted by M. Seton
will lead to a correspondence, which may afford opportuniiics
of announcing the Mission in a manner different from that
above suggested.

“ It may be a question whether it would be most advisable
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to conduct the preliminary intercourse with Cabul through the
Resident at Dihlee, or through Mr. Elphinstone, or through
the Envoy at Lahore; at present I am instructed to turn my
attention to the object as well ag to the necessity of opening a
communication with Teheran immediately after my arrival at
Lohore; and it is, consequently, necessary that I should be
accompanied by natives qualified to be employed in these im-
portant matters, either according to such particular instructions
a5 I may hereafter receive, or according to the best of my judg-
ment, formed upon the general orders which I have already
yveceived. This consideration induced me to request from M.
Seton the assistance of Fyzut-oolla at Lahore; and with the
sane view, I propose to esrry along with me Syud Jafier
Khan who was formerly employed by Colonel Scott on a
mission to Nadaun. One or the other of these, whichever
may appear to be best qualified, I propose to send withont
delay, if all things remain as they are, to Cabul, charged with a
letter from myself to the Minister; and the other I intend to
employ in opening the communication with Persia. It is not
my intention to confine my endeavors to obtain intelligence of
the state of the Court and country of Cabul to the mission
of a native to Cabul with aletter. 'We ought, besides, to have
gocret news-writers, not only with the Court, but in Cabul,
Cashmeer, Peshawur, Candahar, Moultan, Herat, and as far
as possible in the interior of Persiz.”

Little time was lost in making the necessary pre-
parations for the departure of the Mission. In the
first week of August, Charles Metealfe turned his
back upon Delhi. The weather was unpropitious.
It was the height of the monsoon. The heavy
raing, and the bad roads, for a while impeded the
progress of the Mission. After passing I{ui‘n&ul, the
weather began to improve; but the travellers in-
variably found themselves eéither in a quagmire or a

L
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pool.

water, and the roads are so deep with mud, and the
soil so soft, that it is difficult for cattle of every

““The eountry,” he wrote, “is so full of

description to move. We have been under the
Decessity of taking a circuitous route, the direct
road not being passable; and we have not been able
to make marches of a greater distance than about
ten miles daily.” On the 22nd of August the
Mission reached Puttealah, one of the chief places in
the Cis-Sutlej states, and here the serious business
of diplomacy commenced.

The Rajah of Puttealah received the British
Enyoy with profuse demonstrations of compliment
and congratulation ; and at a public interview, un-
expectedly produced the keys of the fort, and re-
quested Metealfc to restore thom to him as a gift
from the British Government. He threw himself,
he said, entirely on our protection—all that he had
was at the mercy of the British-—his government
and his existence would cease without our support.
But Metcalfe read at once the true memming of this
proposal, and answered that he was not authorised
by his Government to perform any such ceremony,
but that the British were his friends, and ever de-
sired his prosperity ; and that the keys could not be
in better hands.*

On the 1st of September the Mission erossed the

* Soon afterwards; the chief told him

falfillad. It was suggested; too
that he had heard it was the inten- 1

w
Metealfe, that it weuld he expedient

tion of Runjeet Singh to eross the

t.lg_; and toseize Fureed-kite, which
Was in the Puitealah dominions—an
ntention which was subseguently

for Him to weite to Ruijeot to
that the British Government dosipe
him to remain ab Lahore to reogive
the Mission,
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Sutlej.* At Puttealah they had been met by an
agent despatched by Runjeet Singh with a letter of
welcome and congratulation; but as they advanced
into the Punjab, it became at every stage more and
more obvious that that erratic Prince had little in-
tention of remaining at home, either at Lahore or
Umritsur, to receive the British Embassy in a be-
coming manner. It was reported, indeed, that he
had crossed the river with the intention of making
a descent npon the Puttealah territory; but this
Metcalfe was slow to believe, and the Sikh agent
who remained in his camp either was, or pretended
to be, ignorant of the movements of his master.
All doubts, however, were soon set at rest by the
veceipt of a letter from Runjeet himself, announcing
his intention to receive the British Mission at Kus-
soor. 'Troops, it appeared, were assembling there
from all quarters; but Metealfe believed that the
chief cause of the assemblage was a desire on the
part of the Sikh chief to make a formidable display
of his military resources in the presence
British Mission.t

Metealfe pushed on to Kussoor, which lay upon
his road to Umritsur ;3 and upon the 10th of Sep-

* Befure the Mission had reached
the banlks of the river, Metealfe had
despatched a confidential agent to
Cabul with instructions to commun-
nicate all that was passing in Afghan-
istnn, and to keep open the eommmuni-
cationg with Persia, to which country

Muleolm was about to procced at the

head of a great Embassy,

# Runject Singh's army is assem-
Bling from &l quarters. Notwith-
standing the reports that are in cireu-

lation respecting his intentions, T am
inclined to supposé that his prinecipal
niotive in collecting his forees at this
period is a desire to mitke a good dis-
play of his military power before the
British Ewpire”—{ My, Metealfe to
My. Edmonstone, September 5, 1808,
_§ He scems to have had some mis-
pivings at this time regarding the
external appearance of the Mission at
the Sikh Court—the clothing of his
escort being in a most disereditable

14
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tember he halted within a few miles of the Sikh

camp, that the ceremonials of the reception might
be arranged. On the following day, Runjeet’s

Prime Minister* and his chicf military officer,+

with a retinue of two thousand men, came out to

conduct the Mission to the ground which had been

marked out for their encampment, at a distance of

less than a mile from the Rajah’s tents.

“ On the 12th,” wrote Metecalfe to the Chief Secre-
tary, <1 paid my first visit to Runjeet Singh, accom-
panied by the officers attached to the escort. The
Rajah met us on the outside of a large enclosure,
and having embraced all the gentlemen of the
Mission, conducted us within, where tents had been
prepared for our reception.f As a compliment to
us, the Rajah, from his own choice, used chairs at
this mecting, partly collected from our camp and
partly from his own, upon which he and the prin-
cipal Sirdars present and the gentlemen of the
British Mission were seated. This interview was
prolonged by the Rajah beyond the usual time of
visits of ceremony; but nothing of consequence
passed at it. The Rajah did not entep much into

condition, e reported the circum- should come out from his camp to
stance to Government, meet the Mission, and T had it inti-
» 11.19 Dewan Mokun Chund. mated to him that such was my ex-
I Hisadopted bratllcr,FuttehSingh- Dectations, He did not come into my
‘Muiul]ib was of opioion that wishes in that respect; but the refore
Ruanjeet ought to have come out to ences which I had occasion to make
meet the Mfssion, but this Runjeet respecting the cercmonials, had a
declined. Hig répresentations, how- good effect, inasmuch ge they pro-
ever, were not without some effoct, duced a great change in them, for at
* It appeared to me,” he wrote, first the n ception was proposed to be
‘' that the rank and dignity of the Go- fna style far inferior to that whicl
vernment which ¥ have the honor has been ohserved.”"—[ Melealfe o
to Tepresent, required that the Rajah  Bdmanstone, September 13, 1808, |
YOL, 1, 8
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“¢conversation, and made only two observations
worthy of remark. Omne was an expression of regret
for the lamented death of Lord Viscount Lake, of
whom he observed that it would be difficult to find
his equal, for that he was as much distinguished by
his gentleness, mildness, humanity, and affability,
as by his greatness as a military character. The
other observation was in reply to one of his courtiers,
who was remarking that the British Government
was celebrated for good faith ; upon which Runjeet
Singh said that he knew well that the word of the
British Government included everything.” Presents
were interchanged, and in the evening a salute was
fired in Runjeet’s camp in honor of the day, which
he intimated to Metcalfe was regarded by him as a
day of rejoicing.

In spite, however, of these declarations of friend-
ship, the reception given to the British Mission had
nothing of cordiality in it. Runjeet was plainly
jealous and suspicious of the British Government.
His better reason clouded by the false insinuations
and the mischievous advice of councils of chiefs,
who, from motives of self-interest, desired to embroil
Runjeet with the Company’s Government, he for-
bade all communication between the two camps,
and for some time was unwilling to retwrn the visit
of the British Envoy. It was obviously his wish to
enhance his own importance in the eyes of the as-
sembled chiefs and the large body of troops encamped
at Kussoor, by appearing to hold the British Mission
of little account. ¢ In brief,” wrote Metcalfe, ¢ it
would appear that T am regarded as a dangerous
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enemy to be guarded against, rather than as an

Envoy from a friendly State charged with the most
amicable duties.”
But the decided conduct of the young Ambassador

Soon induced Runject at least to pay the British

Mission the compliment of a visit. On the 16th
Metealfo received the Sikh with all honors. A suite
of tents had been erected for the occasion, and a
musnud in the Oriental fashion prepared for the
Rajah’s occupancy. But Runjeet, preferring the
European style, seated himself on a chair, and still
eschewing business, entered into familiar conversa-
tion with the British officers, principally on military
subjects.® After the interview, he expressed a wich
to see the manceuvres of the detachment of Com-
pany’s troops composing the escort, and mounted
on an elephant, watched the exercise of the sepoys
with interest and seeming pleasure. He took his
final leave, to all appearance, much gratified; and
such had been the covdiality of his manner, that
Metcalfe believed a favorable change had taken
place in the feelings of the Sikh, and that tho

* & He spoke with great respect of tents standing.
the British troops, and observed of observe that thi
the Mahratta army which he had seen pression on Ra
in this conntry that it contained great  he had no obje

It was pleasing to
s had made an im-
ajeet Singh, and that
ction to mention it, e

numbers, but that it wanted unjon
and command. e related the fol-
lowing anecdote, which happened
When Jeswunt Rao Holkar was in the
neighbourhood of Umritsur, A ye.
port was brought to Holkar that Lord
Lake had crossed the Beeas in pursuit
of him, Holkar immediately mounted

is horse. The alarm spread through
his army, and the wholc fled to a con-
siderable distance, Ieaving all their

B

put questions concerning our favorite
mode of fighting, the distavce at
which we erectod onr battaries in bo-
sieging, the distance at which our ar-
tillerymen counld kit a target in prace
tice, with others of a gimilar nature and
tendeney. Ho complained of the dif
fioulty of introducing discipline among
the people of the Punjub.”—[ Welealis
to Edmonstone, Scptember 17, 1508.1

2
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husiness of the Mission would soon proceed without
interruption. Great, therefore, were Metcalfe’s as-
tonishment @nd disappointment when, on the fol-
lowing day, he received a letter from Runjeet Singh,
which he characterised in his official communications
to Government as “an extraordinary instance of
suspicion, hastiness, and disrespect.” The letter,
in its Bastern phraseology, contained the meaning
here embodied in an English dress :

Translation of a Note from Rajak Runjeet Singh to Mr. Metcalfe,
delivered by Misr Prebdial, Hulkeem Uzeezoodeen, and Meean
Tnaum-ood-deen on the evening of the 17th of September, 1808.
T never before at any time under any emergency, or in any

place, have made so long a halt as I have now, solely in

consequence of the friendship between this Government and the

Honorable Company, which by the blessing of God has been

inereasing and improving from the time in which his Excellency

Lord Lake came into this country to the present happy hour.

My camp has remained in this place o long, in the expectation

of your arrival. Thanksgivingsto the Throne of the Almighty,

this wish of my heart, that is, your arrival, and the pleasure of
seeing you, has been obtained in a proper manuer.

« Although it is difficult to feel satiety from the interviews of
friends whose hearts are united, and although the times of
meeting, however many, seem too few, yet affairs of State must
be attended to. Consequently, I am about to march imme-
diately for the settlement of certain districts. In my nation it
is considered very auspicious to march on the first day of the
moon; and my march is appointed for that day. Therefore be
pleased to make the friendly comm unications on the part of the
Right Honorable the Governor-General, with which, from
his Lordship’s letter, I understand you to be charged, in order
that 1 msy act accordingly. My anxiety cannot admit of
longer cxpcctati.rm."

L
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Outwardly courteous and complimentary as was
this effusion, its uncourteous and uncomplimentary
meaning peeped out from every sentence of it.
“This extraordinary document,” wrote Metcalfe,
“ gave me notice in a plain manner that I was ex-
pected to take my leave in three or four days. I
was calculated to repel, whilst it professed to call
for communications, and in, I suppose, an unprece-
dented manner, evinced a design to shut the door
against all intercourse, and to put an end to the pro-
ceedings of the Mission, without even ascertaining
in the slightest degree the object to which they
might be directed.” But Metcalfe believed that the
obnoxious letter was hardly to be considered as the
own act and deed of Runjeet himself. It was, he
knew, the result of suspicions instilled into him by
others; and he did not yet despair of bringing the
chief, by good diplomacy—by conduct at once firm
and conciliatory, into a more reasonable frame of
mind. So he sent back the following letter in
reply :

Translation of a Note from M. Metealfe to Rajah B
transimitied on the night of the 17¢h of
that received from the Bajak on the eve

“By the blessing of God the relations of friendship have

been firmly established between you and the British Govern-

ment, from the time when his Exccllency General Lord Lake
was in this country,

v and have been daily improved, particularly
since the period when you wrote g very friendly letter to the
Right Honorable Lord Minto, the Governor-Gieneral, congra-
tulating his Lordship on his arrival in India. In consequenee
when you formed the intention of visiting Hurdwar, in order

unjeet Ningh,
September, in reply to
ning of same day.
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to bathe in the Holy Ganges, his Lordship deputed me for the
purpose of receiving you with every respect, and attending you
during your stay in that quarter. Tt happened that your mnten-
tions were postponed. The Right Honorable the Governor-
General, wishing to display a signal mark of his friendship and
regard, has now commanded me to repair to your Court to
express the satisfaction with which his Lordship views the
existing harmony and concord between the two states, and with
a view to establish and improve the ties of intimacy and union.
To-morrow I hope to have the honorof waiting upon you when-
ever you are at leisure, when I will make the communications
with which T am entrusted by the Right Honorable the Go-
vernor-Gieneral, and present a letter which I have from his
Lordship to your address.”

This letter was not without its anticipated effect.
Metcalfe was right when he believed that Runjeet
had been led astray by the instillation of some false-
hood with which the men by whom he was sur-
rounded had poisoned his understanding. He had
been told that Metcalfe was on his way to Cabul ;
and that the British Mission had not been despatched
primarily and exclusively to his Court, but merely
instructed to pay him a passing visit. But this lie
sas goon exploded ; and Runjeet again began to re-
gard the Mission with complacency. An answer was
promptly returned to Metcalfe’s letter ; and it con-
tained an eager invitation to the meeting proposed
by the British Envoy:

Translation of u Note from Rajel Runjeet Singh to My. Metealfe,
veceived from Meean Timauwm-god-deen on the 18th of September.
[After compliments,] “In an auspicious and happy mo-

ment your friendly letter, most agreeable to my inclinations,
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every letter of which refreshed my eye, reached me, and gave
splendor to the unity and concord (subsisting between us), That
which is written by your friendly pen respecting what has
happened from the illustrious arrival of Lord Lake in this
country up to your arrival, in order to confirm and improve
the relations of intimate sincere friendship, which by the
blessing of God have been o firmly established, and so mani-
festly displayed as to be known to all, collectively and indivi-
dually; and the intimation which you give of your intention
to visit me, and make me happy by the communications en-
trusted to you by the Right Honorable the Governor-Geeneral,
have given me thousand-fold pleasure and joy.

“ My desire to see you cannot be postponed from this day
till to-morrow, and my inclination isimpatient of delay, butin
consequence of the season, and state of my constitution, T have
this day taken medicine. To-marrow, therefore, at three o’clock
in the afternoon, bring pleasute to your friend’s house. Hu-
kecm Uzeezoodeen will arrive with you at that hour and conduct
you'!!

On the 19th of September, Metoalfe visited the
Rajah, and, in the presence of the principal Sikh
councillors, opened the discussion by accusing the Ra-
Jah of encouraging unjust and wnworthy suspicions,
This was denied. Evasive explanations of the offen-
sive letter were given. And after a conversation con-
ducted on both sides with the utmost good humor,
it was determined that the propositions of the British
Goyvernment should be received, when the Sikhs had
held a council of state to determine upon their plan
of operations. But this was manifestly reversing
the order of things. 8o when subsequently a depu-
tation waited on Metcalfe, to explain that the Sikhs
could not determine upon the course they were to
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pursue until they were informed of the nature of the
propositions to be made to them, the British Envoy
acknowledged the cogency of the assertion, and de-
dared that he was willing on the following day to
deliver the important message with which he was
charged by his employers. It appeared to Metcalfe,
indeed, that it was no longer desivable to keep
Runject in ignorance of the real objects of his
mission ; for the mind of the restless Sikh might be
diverted by thoughts of the Anti-Gallican alliance
from other objects on which it was not expedient
that he should dwell.

So on the afternoon of the 22nd of September,
Metealfe went unattended to Runjeet’s residence,
and there found the Sikh ruler surrounded by his
principal councillors of state. ¢ T opened the con-
ference,” wrote Metcalfe, reporting all its circum-
stances to the Supreme Government, ¢ by stating
that the friendship which had happily existed be-
tween the Rajah and the British Government, had
induced the Right Honorable the Governor-General
to depute me to communicate some important intel-
ligence, in which the Maha-rajah’s interests were
materially concerned. 1 then mentioned that his
Lordship had received authentic advices that the
French, who were endeavoring to establish them-
selves in Persia, had formed the design of invading
{hese countries, and of seizing Cabul and the Pun-
jab—that his Lordship’s first care was to give
warning to the states which this intelligence con-
cerned—that feeling the interests of the British
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Government and those of the Rajah to be the same,
his Lordship had commissioned me to negotiate
with the Rajah arrangements for the extirpation of
the common enemy, and had appointed another
gentleman to be Envoy to Cabul for similar pur-
poses with respect to that country, who would in
a short time, with the Rajah’s permission, pass
through this country on his way to the place of his
destination. I added, that these measures had been

- adopted by the Government in the purest spirit of
friendship, and that it was evident that the interests
of all the states in this quarter required that they
should unite their powers in defence of their do-
nminions and for the destruction of the enemy's
armies.

“ At the conclusion of this introduction,’’ con-
tinues the young Envoy, ¢ the Rajah and all present
following him, made an exclamation of admiration
at the friendly conduct of the Right Honorable the
Governor-General in making this communication,
and expressed without hesitation a ready concur-
rence in his Lordship’s plans, The Rajah asked,
how far the British army would advance to meet
the French, and what force would be sent? I re-
plied, that these questions would depend upon subse-
quent arrangements; but that it was our practice to
seek our enemy, and that no doubt the Government
would send an army beyond Cabul. With respeet
to the amount of the force, I observed, that would
necessarily depend upon circumstances, but that
such a force would of course be sent as would be
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amply sufficient to destroy the foe. He asked if
{roops were ready to advance, and when the French
might be expected? I said that the moment at
which the enemy might be expected could not at
present be ascertained—that it might be sooner or
later—but that there was no doubt of the design,
and that it behoved wise governments to be pre-
pared to counteract it; and that our troops always
are, and always would be, ready to advance.

¢ After expressing in animated terms his desire to
co-operate with the British arms, his sense of the
friendly motives which had led to the communi-
cations from the Right Honorable the Governor-
General, his approbation of the plan of attacking
the enemy before they could reach Cabul, and his
satisfaction at the prospect of a close alliance with
the British Government, which had long, he said,
been the wish of his heart, now spoke in a whisper
to Misr Prebdial (one of his councillors), who, in
consequence, carried aside all the persons present
except the Rajah, Kurreem Singh, Imaum-cod-deen,
and myself. Whilst the gentlemen apart were deli-
berating in a whisper, the Rajah continued to con-
yerse with me, sometimes on subjects connected
with the objects of my previous communication, and
sometimes on general topies. IHe started the idea
that the King of Cabul might throw himself in the
arms of the French, and asked what would be done
in that case? T said, in that case we must attack
the King of Cabul as well as the French; but that
it was improbable that he would be so blind to his
own interests ; for that the French invariably sub-
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Jected and oppressed those who joined them ; plun-
dered and laid waste their country, and overthrew
the Government. In the course of this conversation
I endeavored, in conformity to the instruetions of
the Supreme Government, to alarm the Rajah for
the safety of his territories, and at the same time to
give him confidence in our protection.

‘“ The Rajah asked if all was right with Holkar ?
I said, ¢ Yes;’ and that since the peace with him
made in this country, he had continued on the
most {riendly terms with the British Government.
¢ But,’ replied the Rajah, ‘he is a determined rascal
(pucka hurumzadah), and no trust can be reposed in
him.” T answered, that when we were at war with
him, we used to call him a great rascal; but as we .
were now at peace, we always spoko of him with the
respect due to a friendly chief. The Rajah men-
tioned, that when in this country, Holkar prohibited
his troops from plundering as long as Lord Lake’s
army was near to him, but let them loose on the
country as soon as his Lordship had commenced his
return to the British dominions.

““When the deliberations of the whispering couneil
were concluded, the result was conveyed by Misr
Prehdial to the Rajah's ears, and the Rajah delivered
some order to him in the same manner; after which
Misr Prebdial addressed me in a long speech, the
substance of which was, that the Rajah concurred in
everything that T had communicated, and particu-
larly desired to have the closest connexion with the
British Government; but that the business not
being of slight consideration, but of the highest im-
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portance, it was necessary to proceed with delibera-
tion—accordingly, that the question would be fully
discussed by the Rajah with those present, and that
the result of their deliberations on that and other
subjects should be communicated to me on the fol-
lowing morning. The Rajah said the same; and
having enjoined profound secresy to all present, put
an end to the conference.”

The morrow came, and with the morrow a uew
light dawned upon the subject. To the Sikh coun-
cillors it did not appear, upon consideration of the
whole matter, that they had much to apprehend from
the rumored incursion of the French. The danger
was at most something remote and conjectural.
They hardly could bring themselves to believe that
the counteraction of foreign influence in the countries
of Central Asia was the real object of the Mission to
Runjeet’s Court. Andif it were, they argued among
themselves, the alliance which the British Govern-
ment sought was mainly for its own advantage.
Why then should not the treaty at the same time
embrace objects more nearly and palpably advanta-
geous 1o the Sikhs themselves? It was Runjeet
Singh’s earnest desire, at this time, to obtain from the
British Governmient a recognition of his sovereignty
over all the Sikh States on both sides of the Sutle’;
and it was now intimated to Metealfe that tl
suggested the expediency of including this and other
provisions in the contemplated treaty. To all of thig
Metealfe listened patiently ; but he firmly »
that he had no authority to give any such
on the part of the Governme
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1e Rajah

eplied,
guarantee
nt which he represented
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—that the alliance against the French was the first
oint to be arranged, and that the rest would be left
for future consideration. But this was not a view
of the case which the Sikh councillors were inclined
ta take. The interview, therefore, was not a safis-
factory one; and nothing was settled except—the
last resource of inconclusivencss—that the views
of Runjeet Singh should be reduced to writing, and
considered by the British Envoy.

I cannot follow in detail all the consultations—
many of them mere profitless repetitions of inconclu-
sive discussions—which day by day Metealfe reported
to the Supreme Government. The difficulties with
which the yo - diplomatist contended were many
and great. He soon perceived that in Runjeet Singh
he had to deal with a man inordinately ambitious
himself, and out of measure suspicious of the ambi-
tious designs of others. Untainted by any objects
of aggression as was this Mission to Lahore, it must
be admitted that Runjeet’s suspicions were not
wholly without foundation. He had seen, within
the space of a few years, the fairest provinces of Hin-
dostan subjected to the yoke of the conquering
Feringhee. 1f he had extended Lis dominions, our
extension of territory had been far greater; and there
was suflicient, at least in the antecedents of British
conquest, to make him fearful of his independence,
when he saw our battalions already approaching the
banks of the Sutlej, and our diplomatists, the sure
forerunners of our armies, beginning to spread
themselves over all the countries of Contral Asia.
It is not strange, therefore, that one, by nature sus-

RUNJEET'S SUSPICIONS. 9
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picious in the extreme, and wrought upon by evil
councillors and treacherous adherents, should have
regarded the advance of the British Mission with
distrust. Trom the very first his suspicions had
broken out into acts of open discourtesy. He had foz-
bidden, as I have before said, all intercourse between
the two camps. Supplies had been refused to the
Mission. The native bankers were afraid to cash
Metealfe’s bills. Runjeet’s spies were eontinual_’ly in
{he British camp. The camp had been pitched on
ground sclected by Runjeet in the bed of a dry river,
on whose banks the Sikh senfries were incessantly
posted. Our messengers had been intercepted ; our
letters had been opened ; and Metcalfe had excused
himself to Government for submitting to many indig-
nities which he pretended not to observe. He had
certain great ends to accomplish, and he would not
be arvested or turned aside by any obstructions but
those of the greatest national import and significance.

But that which most embarrassed Metealfe at this
time was the unscrupulous course of territorial
aggrandisement which Runjeet was determined on
pursuing in the face of the British Mission. It was
obviously his intention to turn to account what he
hoped would be considered the implied sanction of
the British Government to his conquests on the
southern bank of the Sutlej. The suddenness of his
rmovements baffled all diplomacy, and prevented all
remonstrance.  Thuson the 25th of September, just
as the negotiotions sppearved to be in a favorahle
ptate, Runjeel suddenly, without intimation to the
British Envoy, and without consulting his Minis-
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ters, broke up his camp at Kussoor, and prepared
to cross the Sutlej.* The primary object of the
movement was the capture of the fortress and sur-
rounding territory of Fureed-kote—a tract of coun-
try in the domain of the Rajah of Puttealah, one
of the chief of the group of his Cis-Sutlej States;+
but it was openly boasted in camp that the expedition
was designed to accomplish the subjugation of the
whole of the country lying between the Sutle) and
the Jummna. And there were those who said that,
this accomplished, some hostile movements against
the British would certainly ensue.}

Following the Sikh camp at & convenient interval
of time, Metcalfe, on the 28th of September, again
met Runjeet Singh. The interview was held on an
island in the river. The confidential servanisof the
Rajah were present; and the manner of Runjeet
Limself was courteous and concilistory. But there
seemed to be a hopeless gulf between the two nego-

* Reporting this to Government,
Metealfe wrote: * I was disposed to
augur well from the spirit of this
confercnoe; and great was my sur-
Drige on rising this morning to find
that the Raejah's army was moving.
Uzeezoodeen at the instant came to
me and said that he had Dbeen sent
by the Rajah to inform me that ho
was about to march to the river
Bieas, and to request that I would
nmiarch too. I amswered that I could
not march to-day; but that T would
follow thie Rejah ns goon ns 1 could, T
expressed my surprisg at the Rajal's
Moving so suddenly and without giving
e any previous intimntion, and I de-
sired to know what were the Hajsh's
intentions, where he ‘was going, and
whether he would cross the river or

not,  Uszeezoodeen could give meno

gutisfactory information. I therofore
desired him to bring me an answer on
these poiats from his master, saying,
that until T should obtain the informa-
tion required, I could not say whethor
it wounld be proper for me to accor-
pany thie Rajah or not.”—[Mr. Mot~
calfe to Mr. Edmonstone, Camp Kussoor,
Septémber 25, 1908.]

+ Fureed-kote was, however, at this
time in the possession of rebels who
piid morevenue to the Puttealsh Rajalu

1 Motealic roported, wwong otlier
things, that thore was “a atary on
foot to the effect that the Rojah of
Bhurtpore had applied to Ronjeet fog
wid against the hostile designs of the
Britiah, that his application had beea
backed by Iolkor, and that Runjeet
Bingh Bad agreed to co-operate for
the defence of Bhurtpore.”
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tiating parties, which it was impossible to bridge
over. Metcalfe still asserted that he came for
nothing but a defensive alliance against the French.
“ If the French invade your territory,” he said, “you
will profit greatly by the alliance. If they do not,
you will not suffer by it.”” Reduced to this simple
formula, the case was a convineing one; and Run-
jeet at first seemed to be staggered by it. But he
clamored for the sanction of the British Government
to the extension of his sovereignty -over all the Sikh
territories ; and was eager also to introduce into the
treaty a clause, pledging us net to interfere for the
prevention of any hostilities that he mi ght be pleased
to carry on in the direction of Cabul, Such was
the unvarying tenor of his discourse ; and every new
meeting only served to convince Metealfe of the
difficulty of persuading the Rajah to abandon a
design which lay so very near to his heart.*

In the mean while, Metealfe’s letters, despatched
with unfailing punctuality, and admirably lueid
in all their details, were exciting much grave re-
flection in the Council Chamber of Calcutta. The
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* Bumming np the whele state of taining concessions from the British

the case after the lapse of another Government ; but at the same time he
month, Metealfe wrote to the Suprane d

Government: “ It appears to me that
he withes merely to have » tréaty of
perpetunl fiendaliip with the British
Government to be thaintatned lergs
aftor with his heirs and sufeaEsors -
that he i3 indifferent to tlie proposoed
allinuce against the designs  of the
French, aa the danger is not near ner
perceptible to him-—{lat to that allic
pacy generilly, however, he has no
objection; although he wishes to make
It ngreement to it the means of ob-

0ed not view without uneasiness the
pragress of the measures in con-
templation, und the Probability of the
infroduction of British agents in his
territorion, the disclosure of the ae-
tual stalo of his country, army, and
Tesources, und othor imngined conge-
quences of openitg the me
mumeation between the Brig
vernment and the disaffon i
whom' he o resaus."-—-[((:-ed r-..h:;{i;:

1808. M, | elealfe fo My b
atome. ALS, Re«cu:fs.} . S
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seeming determination of Runjeet to extend his con-
quests on the southern bank of the Sutlej, excited
in Lord Minto a very strong desire to arrest by force
of arms the progress of the ambitious Sikh. The
first minute which he wrote upon the subject, hinted
at the expediency of instructing Metcalfe to intimate
to Runjeet Singh, that if, pending negotiations, any
advance were made towards our frontier, or if any
interruption were at any time given to the Cabul
Mission, it would be considered as a declaration of
war.*  But he was a statesman of a calm and dis-
passionate nature, and he recorded at the same time,
that these were only-his first hasty reflections, and
that he would, “in the course of the day, collect
more deliberately such thoughts on the general
(uestion as might appear worthy to be communi-
cated’ to his colleagues, and to the Envoy in Run-
Jeet’s camp. And the result of these subsequent
deliberations, aided by a memorandum drawn up by
Mr. Edmonstone was, that Metcalfe was instructed
not to follow any course that would precipitate his
abrupt departure from Runjeet’s camp, but to pro-
tract his negotiations, and to avoid, if possible, such
4 rupture as would incite Runjeet to assume an
attitude of open hostility.+ These instructions Met-

* Minute of Lord Minto, October
28, 1808, —[ WS, Records.]

T4X do not think,” wrote Lord
Minto, «that we should be justified,
10 point of policy, in breaking at pre-
sent with Runjeot Singh. The point
0 4im at in our present transactions
With the Rajal of Lahore uppesrs to
°6, that we should keep ourselyes us
e a5 enn bo done without a rupture.
T'ghould on this principle rather wish

VOIL. 1.

to protract than accclerate the treaty.
I feel the force of the observations
contained in Mr. Edmonstond’s nota
concerning the effect which is likely,
or rather certain, to be prodaced on
the mind of Runjeet Singh by the
immediate close of Mr. Metealfe's mis-
sian; and I should think it advisable,
therefore, not to adopt that measure,
Mr. Metealfe should be particalarly
instructed not to hasten the nege-



calfe had anticipated. The courselaid down for him
- was that which his own judgment suggested, and
already he had entered upon it.
~ Having thus resolved to gain time and to amuse
Runjeet, whilst they were maturing their plan of
ultimate operations, and waiting to see what might
be written down in the ever-fertile Chapter of Acci-
dents, our statesmen at Calcutta began to take
larger views of the whole question, and to consider
whether it would be expedient to yield to the solici-
tations of the Rajah, or to maintain the independence
of the Sikh chiefs on our side of the Sutlej. TLord
Minto at once determined that the question was one
which he was justified in deciding upon the grounds
of immediate policy, rather than upon any abstract
principles; and after weighing the consequences ol
the adoption of either course—each being beset with
its own peculiar diffienlties—he resolved that the
interests of the British Government demanded that
the aggressiveness of Runjeet Singh should be
steramed, and that the lesser chiefs befween the
Sutlej and Jumna shonid be supported. But this
object was not to be gained by mere passive resist-
ance. *“ A consequence of our refusing our assent
to Runjeet’s proposal,” wrote Lord Minto, *must
be the necessity of our affording open and imme-
diate protection to the Sikhs, and employing a mili-
tary force for that purpose. For to declare that we
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#intlon for which he was originafly wsatisfaction on the point of hi
deputed. Tor this there are nover operations h}-mmfﬁ)}. 2z} on o 1.01:
wanting safiicient menne, Tt will be  Sutle].”—[ M5, Memoranda of Ford
propor, of eonres, 10 spend negotis-  Mints.T

e until Runjoet Singh has givenus 5
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do not consent to the proposed conguests, and at the
same time to look on whilst they are achieved, is &
contradiction calculated alike to olienate the Silchs
and to provoke the enmity of Runjeet Singh. That
wa should advance,” he added, ¢ a body of troops to
the Sutlej, and take part in that river in concert and
connexion with the principal Sikh chiefs, T should
not think in itself a disadvantage, but in our present
circumstances the reverse.”* 'The Governor-General
did mot conceal from himself that this measure
might precipitate an open collision with Runjeet,
but he was prepared to abide the result.

In the mean while, Runjeet Singh, having taken
possession of Fureed-kote, was dragging the British
Mission hither and thither, still evidently desirous
that its presence should seem to sanction his ag-
gressive proceedings, until Metealfe demanded that
the Rajah should name some fitting place where
the Mission might remain encamped until Runjeet
had ecompleted his operations, and was in a position
again to give himself unintermptedly to the pending
negotiations. After much further discussion leading
to no result, and some wild propositions at which
Metcalfe only laughed,} it was agreed that the

% MS. Memorandu of Lord Minto,
} Among wothers was & proposilion

the latter should be held in pawn until
vedeemed by the ratiiontion of the

to the effect that Motcalfe should Te-
turn to Caleuttn, taking with hioone
of the Sikh chiefs as Runjeet's Wakesl
(er agent), snd finish the negotiations
at the Presilency. This Metoalle
treated as & “ humorous P
Angther sehemeut forth by the Silcha
was hat two treatios should be drawn
up—oneageording to Banjeot’s wishes,

ane accordlng to our own—and thai

i s

former! It was with roference to one
of these conferences (on fhe Zdthief
Qgctoher) that Motealfe wrote that tho
confugion produced by the eagerness
of eight Bikh ilors to declars
their opinions was alnost sublimc.
« T bog vou,” he said, *to conceive an
assomblage of nine persoms, dn which
cight are endeavering by all mamaer
ol aneana to ohtnin a partieular peet

2



British Mission should halt at Gongrona, a place
between the Sutlej and the Jumna, about twenty
miles south-east from Loodhianah, until Rumnjeet
had done his work. The Sikh army was now
moving upon Umballah, and thus bringing itself
into dangerous proximity to our own frontier-station
of Kurnal.*

A lull in the more strenuous activities of the
Mission enabled Charles Metcalfe not only to take
a comprehensive survey of past transactions, to
clear up in his letters to Government any uncer-
tainties or obscurities which his previous commmuni-
cations might have presented, and to draw up elaho-
rate reports on the character of Runjeet Singh and
the resources of his country,t but also to devote
some time to his private correspondence. In the
middle of November he had received the distressing
intelligence of the death of his aunt Richardson, to
whom he was deeply attached. Some letters written
by him at this time to his afflicted uncle, and to his
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from one-—the Ministers being all
cager to display before their master
thoir zeal in the cause, their skill and
neutences; and the picture will com-
pletely represent the conference,
which was preceded by a present of o
horse from the Rajal's stable. There
was little argument on either side,
The subject had heen ropeatedly dis-
cussed, and nothing new remained to
be said.”

# At one of the conferonces be-
tween Metcalfe and the Sikh Minis-
ters, the latier hnd been as%ed whether
he considered that Kurnal belonged to
the British Government.

1 There in an amusing passage in
one of these reports relative to Run-
jeet's appreciation of eriillery, and the

means by which he contrived to
serupe his ordnance together, ¢ The
Rajal’s attachment to guns,” wrote
Metealfe to Government, *and his
opinion of their weight, are Loth so
great, that he will never miss an op-
f&urtunit}" of obtaining a gun. If he
earns that therve is o gun in any fort,
he cannot rest until he has taken the
fort to got at the gun, or until the gun
has: been given up to him to save the
fort. He immed tely dismounts the
g\m from the wall and druga it atter

im, as an addition to-his fleld train,
Ho boasted to 10 onee, that he hagd
miwle the Rajah of Pattealah give him
a fine gun, which the Rajoh wished
to resene for 20,000 rupecs,”
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“dear and now, alas! only aunt,” Mrs. Monson,*
express the strength of his grief. IHe was eager at first
to know, whether his < dear dear aunt in her illness
ever thought of him ? 'With her mind,” he added,
““occupied by thoughts of her children and her be-
loved sisters, I cannot expect that she did.” But
all thoughts of his own sorrows passed away as he
dwelt on the sufferings of the hushand and sister,
and prayed that they might be comforted and sus-
tained by Him, who alone has power {o wipe away
all tears from our eyes. ¢ May the Ruler of all
things,” he wrote to his uncle, ¢ give you patience
and fortitude to support you under the heavy
pressure. ‘And now, Lord, what is my hope, truly
my hope is even in thee. In themidst of life we axc
in death. Of whom may we secek succour but of
thee, O Lord? Blessed are the dead who die in the
Lord, for they rest from their labours.’ *+

‘Whilst Metcalfe, thus halting at Gougrona, was
dividing his thoughts between his public business
and his private sorrows, Runjeet was extending bhis
dominion over the more helpless of the Cis-Sutlej
chiefs. Many of them, unequal to resistance, ac-
knowledged that they were his subjects, that they
held their possessions only hy virtue of his grant,
and contributed their guns to the Rajah’s collee-
tion; whilst others obtained temporary immunity for

* Mrs. Richardson and the Hon, + November, 1808, Camp Gongrona.—
Mrs. Mongon, then widow of Colonel In this lotter Metealfe says: “If my
M?nson. of whomt Charles Metealfe mission should soon end, which ig
#aid, “he was always an affectionate possible, I shall endeavor to join you
uncle and kind friend to me,” were at Banda to share your sandness.”
Sistery of Lady Metcalfe.
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themselves by aiding him in these acts of spoliation.*
But he still had time to think of tl.e British Mission,
wrote courteous letters to Metcalfe, “evinced a desire
to be friendly and conciliatory;”’+ and was sincerely
desirous to protect the Mission against any incon-
venience that might result from the turbulent cha-
racter of the people smrrounding their camp.f Before
the end of November, the restless chief had sent hack
his infantry and his guns to Gongrona, and purposed,
after a friendly interviewwith the Rajah of Puttealah,
to make his way to Umritsur and Lahore, and there
to rest himself in the lap of pleasure after the
fatigues of war and the anxieties of public business.
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* “Tneluding,” wrote Metealfe to
Government, * those chiefs who have
attended him in this expedition, his
sovereignty has been completely ac-
Inowledged by all the Bikh chiefs
with two exceptions”—the Rajah of
Futtealah and Thanesur,

T *Being informed that Gongrona
wag not & pleasant situation, he wrote
40 rie,” said Metcalfe, “in the most
civil manner, to request that I would
move to anotiier place, which was
asgortained to ba?]etter; lmtlﬁndin
G(mgrmm sufficiently ugreeable, I di
not think it uecoassi‘fy t%rmnve.”

15k h&:@md," wrote Metealfe,
shiat n ng the air one evening
I was upon from a village by
amistake. This {rivial ciroumstance
wad reported to the Bojah and mag.
nified. In consequence, lie gave orders
o the commandors of his infantry and
gung, on détaching them from Sing-
habad on their refurn to the Faniab,
to attend me, and wrote (o mie io
desire that I would canse them to

wader anl des any Vil ihat

add behaved in o disrespectful man-
ner. Afber thanklng hiu for his kinds
nesd. L requested him to forgive a fault
which had procceded from inadver-
teney and the divided stateof the coun-
try.” This humare Interference, how-

ever, had not at first the desired result.
In a subsequent letter Metealfe wrote:
“The Rajal's infantry and guns have
Ticen at this place for some days. As
they were sent by the Rajah for the
avowed purpose of destroying certain
villages which had been represented
to him.as haying behaved in o disre-
spectful manner to me, I endeavored
to prevent their advance, but did not
succeed, as Kureem Singh, the pes-
sessor of the tents of Gongrons, had a
strong inferest in persnading them: to
come on, On their arrival I had some
difficulty in preventing their attaek-
ing the villages. The commanders in-
formed me that they had positive
orders to plunder the villages, and
put to death the inhabitants, 1 saw
their instructions under the seal of
Ruunjoet Singh giving orders for their
guldance, and even laying down the
Plan of attack, and giving intelligence
of the force thet thoy might expect
6 be opposed to them. Fortunately,
the Rn;ab Iimd written other inkterne-
Loms desiring thém to ubuy my orders,
which have enabled wma by positive
cammands and written injunctions o
Testrain them until the result of my
reference to the Rajab may he
known.”
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\m &igsowmons OF THE BRITISH GOVERNMENT.

It was at this time that Metcalfe learnt the results
of the deliberations which had been held in Calcutta
at the close of the preceding month. The Chief
Secretary communicated to him that Lord Minto had
determined to resist Runjeet’s efforts to subjugate
the Cis-Sutlej States, and that henceforth these
petty principalities were to be under British pro-
tection. The letter which announced this impor-
tant intelligence was followed by a communication
to the same effect to Runjeet himself, sent through
the Delhi Resident, couched in the ordinary lan-
guage of diplomatic flattery, but sufficiently unmis-
takeable in its import and decided in its tone. The
ambitious Sikh was now called upon to arrest his
career of conquest in the country between the Sutlej
and the Jumna, and to surrender the places which
he had recently wrested from the petty chiefs. But
Metcalfe, still auxious to achieve the objects of his
mission without violence, and believing that Runjeet
was alveady on his way back to the capital, detex-
mined to delay the communication of the Governor-
General’s vesolution, in the hope that the Rajah’s
withdrawal from the scene of his recent conquests
might appear rather a spontaneous act npon his part
than one foreed upom him by the implied menaces
of the British Government.* The uncertainty and

My, Mitealfe to Mr. Edmonstose,
Novemlor 27,1808.—* When I received
Your ustruetions of the 81st of Qc-
tober, Lhad every reasen to cxpect
the ingtant votury of Runjeet Singh
to Lahore from hig own communiea-
tions o me, as well as from general
“pion and qetual appearances, Ilis
infantry and gons, which generally

form his advanced guard, were en-
camped in this place, which is withdn
a furced march from the Suatley; and
the Rajal himself wasThightly cquipped
with tho seeming and svowed intam-
tion of adyanoing, Under those it
cumstances, it appeared to me that if
the Rajals should lmmediatoly re-ovass
the Sndlej with his svmy, and remove
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the impulsiveness, which marked Runjeet’s, conduct,
rendered Metcalfe, however, sceptical of the real
intentions of the Rajah; and doubting whether he
would return immediately to his capital, he wrote to
him that he desired an interview at Eesroo, which
iay on the road to Umritsur. The request was
readily granted, but before the appointed time Run-
Jjeet had once more changed his resolution. He was
tired of business. Tle was eager again to enjoy the
delights of the wine-cup and the Zenana. He had
exchanged turbans as a token of amity with the
Rajah of Puttealah; and he had now little else to
do. 5o he wrote to Metealfe proposing a meeting
on the Sutlej. But before the British Envoy had
reached the banks of the river, Runjeet had again
changed his mind, and was moving in hot haste on
the wings of love to Umritsur. His confidential
physician-minister, Uzeezoodeen, was left behind to
invite Metcalfe to follow him ; and on the 10th of
December the British Mission arrived at the holy
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city.*

his troops from all positions menacing
v the safety and independence of the
ehiefs whom it is the intention of
Gurernment to protect, one of the
most_important objects of my in-
structions would be obtained witliont
auy immediate interraption of ami-
cable nogotiation, and time would be
giined for the execution of the ar-
rapgements destined for the dofence
of tiis country.”

* Mr. Metcalye to Mr. Edmonntons,
Liecember 11, 1808.—“0On the 29th uit.
Runjeet Singh sent me o, polite lotter,
informing me that ho would be at
Bosrgo to meef me on the st of this
moiitl.  On the day fixed I received
a letter from him containing his ex-

cuses for not being at Eesroo; and
Proposing a meeting on the Sutlej.
Before 1 reached that river he had
continued his march with surprising
rapidity o Umritsur, whore he arrived
almost unattended in two or three
days. He left Uzeczoodoen to invite
me to follow hin t¢ Umeitsur. Ran-
Jeat Singh, in evergthing that ho un-
dnrtn.kw. is impatient; but the cause
of his exirao inary impatienve on
this occasion was o desire 1o seo his
favorile mistress Marar, from whom
he hae been separated for nearly threg
ntr-rqths. ﬂIil Illerrarms he has been
rosking after the fatigues is cum-
Dl gues of his eum
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The delay had not been without its uses. The
instructions despatched to Metealfe by the Supreme
Government at the end of October, and the letter to
Runjeet Singh sent through the Delhi Resident, had
been of a more peremptory and decided character than
Lord Minto upon further consideration considered it ¢
expedient to confirm. The letter to the Rajah had
now been modified into a communication less me-
nacing in tone, and containing a less undisguised
exposition of the intentions of the British Govern-
ment. And when Mr. Edmonstone forwarded a
copy of it to Metealfe, he wrote a private letter
explaining to him Lord Minto’s wishes regarding
the fufure conduct of his negotiations :

MR. EDMONSTONE TO MR. METCALFE.
« Calcutts, November 7, 1808.

« My DEAR S1R,—Mr. Seton may perhaps have transmitted
to you an English copy of a letter to Runjeet Singh, and have
led you to expect instructions corresponding with the tenor of
it. Further consideration, however, has suggested a change in
some part of the proposed system of proceeding, and occasioned
an alteration of the letter. I send you a copy in its amended
form, Your instructions will follow speedily, and the letter
itself.  You will see that it is wished you should remain; and
I will state in very few words what is intended. Government
is satisfied that Runjeet Singh will never be the cordial friend
of the British Government; an engagement with him for co-
operation would be mere waste paper. His character, ¢ snduet,
and views are such as to render it for our interest that his
government were subverted.  But we shall do nothing to pro-
mote that ohjest. It would hardly be justifiable to do so; at
the same time, it is desirable not to be embarrassed with en-
gagemonts which might compel us 1o assist him against internal
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rebellion. Our object must be at present to remain as free as
possible without breaking with Runjeet. It is not, therefore,
desirable fo aceelerate the negotiation. The longer it is kept in
suspense the better; and on the plea of awaiting the result of
your report to Government that he has withdrawn his army,
disclaimed any interruption to the Cabul Mission, and treated
you as an accredited Minister of a great State ought to be
treated, you can properly and plausibly suspend the conclusion
of cngagements. Though I apprehend from your despatch
No. 29, just received, that you may have gone too far under
yous former mstructions to admit of this course.

*Troops will be sent to the frontier agwas at first announced
in the letter to Runjeet; but it 1s now thought best to suspend
any nofification to him of this arrangement, g0 you are to know
nothing of these matters.

“ Ag it may be of impertance that you should know the
general outline of the intended proceedings as soon as possible,
Lrite this hurried letter, which will answer the purpose until
the instructions can be completed.

“I remain, with great regard and esteem,
“Yours most sincerely,
“ B. EDMONSTONE.”

On the evening of his arrival.at Umritsur, Met-
ealfe, taking with him the Governor-General’s Ietter,
visited Runjeet Singh. But the Rajah was in no
mood for business. e was in the midst of a riotous
career of self-indulgence. Instead of attending to
the affairs of State which had ealled the Bntlsh
Envoy to his presence, he sent for his dancing-girls ;
amd soon afterwards, the wonted strong drinks were
introduced. In vain did Metcalfe eall tho attention
of the Rajah to the business on which he had come ;
i vain did he speak of the Governor-General's lettm
of which he was the bearer. Runjeet was willing to

L.
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“receive the letter, but he was not prepared to read it.

““The evening was devoted to mirth and pleasure.”
The Rajah was in a genial humor—full of cordiality
towards his English visitor; familiar in manner,
friendly in speech. Metealfe, with right diplomatic
address, entered into the spirit of the scene, within
the limits of becoming hilarity; and when he took
his departiure, it was obvious to him that the Rajah
and his friends were incapacitated for business.”*

But Runjeet Singh, drinking and revelling with the
unopened letter of the Governor-Gereral beside him,
Was as a man singing and dancing upon a loaded
mine. Whether he had any suspicion of its actual
contents, and was disinelined to mar the pleasurable
excitement of the life to which he had now tempo-
rarily abandoned himself, content to live in the
rapture of ‘the present moment, and to lull all cor-
roding anxieties to rest, can be only matter of con-
Jecture. But the morrow passed away, and still
Metcalfe heard nothing of the effects of the letter.
So he wrote the Rajah a note under his own hand,
of which the following is a translation; a not’
giving no uncertain sound, but clearly and decisiv
stating the stage to which the discussion had i .
been brought, and the dangers which stared the
Sikh in the face:

Note transmitted by Mr. Meicalfa to the Bajah of Lakove on
124% December, 1808,

“1 duly commanicated to the Right Honorable the Gu=
vernor-General the proposition brought forward by the Mahe-
rajah respecting the country between the Sutlej and Jumna,
and fully explained all the views of the Maha-rajah on that

* My, Motealfe to My, Edmonstone, December 11, 1808,
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pomnt. I have now reccived his Lordship’s commands to state
his sentiments in reply.

“ His Lordship has learned with great surprise and concern
that the Maha-rajah aims at the subjection of chicfs who have
long been considered under the protection of the power ruling
in the north of Hindostan, and is more especially astonished to
find that the Maha-rajah requires the assent of the British
Government to the execution of this design.

“By the issue of a war with the Mahrattas, the British
Government. became possessed of the power and rights for-
merly exercised by that nation in the north of Hindostan.

*“ At that time the Maha-rajah had no claim on the country
between the Sutlej and Jumna. In an early period of that
contest a communication was received from the Malir-rajah by
the late Lord Lake, which proposed to fix the Sutlej as the
boundary between the British Government and his; which 1s
@ clear proof that the Maha-rajah in those days was well aware
that the country in question was dependent on the power para-
mount in the north of Hindostan.

* Since the British Government has come into this situation,
it has relieved the chiefs between the Sutlej and Jumna from
tribute, and that degree of subserviency which they were used
to pay to the Mahrattas, and has allowed them to carty on
their own concerns without interference or control. But this
“Nerality on the part of the British Government was meant for

benefit of these chiefs, not for their injury. It was never
s yudled that the forbearance of the British Government should
be takan advanizge of by another power to oppress and. subju-
gate those whom the British Government wished to protect and
relieve.

“1In veply, thercfore, to the Maha-rajah’s requisition, it is
hereby declared that the British Governinent cannot consent
that these chicls should be subjugated by the Mahe-rajah, or any
other power; and it is hereby announced that those chiefy,
according to cstablished custom, ave, andwill remain, under the
protection of the British Government,

L
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“ Exclusive of these considerations, which are suflicient to
demenstrate the just principles by which the determination cf
the: British Government is swayed, there are circumstances in
the conduct of the Maha-rajah in bringing forward his proposal,
which would, in any case, make it impossible to comply with it.

*The British Government sent an Envoy to the Maha-rajah
to give him information of a great danger, and to offer the
assistance of the Biitish Government to repel it, and made cer-
tain propositions to the Maha-rajah, which were particularly
caleulated to promote his interests. The Maha-rajah, for reasons
which are not discernible, did not receive those propositions
with the same confidence and cordiality with which they were
made, but in reply brought forward a demand for the assent of
the British Government to the subjugation of chiefs connected
with it, and made a compliance with that demand the condition
of his assent to the friendly propositions of the Governor-
General. It would be unworthy of the dignity of the British
Government to comply with any demand so brought forward.

* Besides this, the Maha-rajah, instead of making a reference
to the British Government on this subject, and waiting for a
reply, proceeded to execute his intention of subjugating the
chiefs, and taking the country which were the objects of the
reference, thus apparently endeavoring to secure his ohbject
whether the reply should be favorable or not.

 In making the reference, the Maha-rajah showed that hewell
knew that without the consent of the British Government he
had no right to invade the country between the Sutlej and the
Jumna, for if this had not been the case, there would not have
been any necessity to make the reference. It was, therefore,
peculiarly inconsistent with the respect due to the Dritish
Government, and an improper return for the friendly confi-
dence which that Government had reposed in the Maha-ajak,
to proceed to seize the object of his requisition without so much
a8 waiting for a reply.

*This is quite contrary to the established practice amongst
states, which requires that when one power makes a reference
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tg.: another it should await the result of that reference. This
sprinciple is go clear, and according to the rules of common

# respect so indispensable, that it is surprising that the Maha-xajah
should not have attended to it. I have repeatedly endeavored
to impress it on the Maha-rajah’s mind, but without success.

“ Moreover, the Maha-rajah proceeded to execute his plans
without giving any notice to me, and although he carried his
arms close to the confines of the British territories, never mads
any candid communication to me of his designs, but sometimes
even assigned a different intention from that which afterwards
appeared.

* In addition to these circumstances, the Maha-rajah’s beha-
viour towards me, the representative of the British Government,
was in other points neither consistent with the respect due to a
friendly state. The Maha-rajah will find in his own breast an
explanation of this observation, and his recollection will point
it to the facts which have coused it. It is unnecessary in this

‘place to particularise them; suffice it to say that they consti-
tuted a violation of the rules established for the intercourse
beiween states,

“Under all these circumstances, even if the Maha-rajah’s
demand had been in itsclf imexceptionable, it would have been
impossible to comply with it.

*Lam directed by the Right Hon. the Governor-Geeneral to
protest against the invasion of the country between the Sutlej
sud the Jumung, in the name of the British Government; and
further; 1o declare that the British Government cannot acknow-
ledge any right in the Maha-rajah to any territories that he may
huve taken possession of eituated between the Sutlej and the
Jumne since the first relerence of this question to the Dritish
(GGovernment.

# Moreover, the Governor-General fesls hiniself authorised to
pxpect, and entertainsno doubt, that the Maba-rajah will restare
all the places that hie has taken possession of since that peried
to the former possessors, and will confine his atmy to the risht
bank of the Sutlej, sinee he can have no object in mninfain?hg
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it on the left bank, except to overawe and subjugate the chy s
sitnated between that river and the Jumna, who are now d
clared to be under the protection of the British Government.
“In expressing these sentiments, I am directed to inform
the Maha-rajah that the Pritish Government is desirous of main-
taining the most amicable relations with his Government, and
wishes that the friendship subsisting between the two states
may daily improve and increase. The British Government
desires no country for itself. Tt has enough, and its only am-
bition is to improve the territories which it possesses, and to
promote the happiness of its subjects. It wishes 16 live in
amity with all mankind. It cannot consent to the subjugation
of chiefs who are closely connected with it, and have claims on
it for protection. At the same time, it entertains the most
friendly designs towards the Maha-rajah, with whom, notwith-
standing the just causes of complaint which the Maha-rajah’s

conduct has afforded, it is anxious to cultivate the relations of

intimate and cordial friendship.

¢ trust that the Maha-rajah will dvly appreciate the friendly
sentiments of the Right Hon, the Governor-General, aud megt
them with reciprocal cordiality and confidence, so as fo give
an assurance that for the future the rights and privileges of the
rcpresentative of the British Government shall be respected
according to the established usage between states, and that the
intercourse between the two Governments shall be carried on
in the spirit of mutual confidence and friendship.”

Of this unmistakeable communication Metealfe’s
confidential moonshee was the bearer. 1t was soon
apparent that the contents of the Governor-General's
letter were utterly unknown to the Rajah, who on
perusing the Envoy’s note seemed to stagger under
it, as though under the influence of a *sudden
shock.,” But it was a shock of a salufary nature.
Tt scemed 4o sober him. He spoke of the commu-
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«cation more humbly and more reasonably than,
judging by his foregone behaviour, there was any
ground to expect. He appearved sensible of the
impropriety of his conduct towards the Mission, and
believed, or pretended to believe, that the determina-
tion of the British Government had been forced
upon it by his want of courtesy towards its repre-
sentative, rather than by his bearing towards the
petty states. And he indulged the hope that a more
favorable reply to his demands would speedily be
despatched to his Court.

The following day was fixed upon for an interview
with the British Envoy, but it brought, after the old
fashion, only excuses for delay. The Rajah had
determined to proceed at once to Lahore, and he
invited Metcalfe to accompany him. It was evi-
dently Runject’s object to gain time. Other thoughts
were distracting his mind. There were dangers and
difficulties bristling at his own door. Ile had hoped
for alittle while in the arms of his fayorite mistress
to forget all of royalty except its sensual delights.
But that which was to have been to him only a
source of refreshment and repose, became the excit-
ing cause of unexpected trouble and alarm. His
favorite was a Mussulmanee dancing-girl. It may
have been in the plenitude of her Mahomedan zeal—
or it may have been in the mere wantonness of
power—that either by force or persuasion, she had
recently converted a Hindoo to the faith of Islam,
or at least subjected him to its external ritualities,
The act, from whatever feeling it may have resulted,
threw Umritsur into a ferment of excitement. The

THE MISSION TO LAHORE.



RUNJEETS PERPLEXITIES. 9289

shops of the holy city were closed. The priests of
the great temple issued their manifestoes, and for-
bade the people, under a ban of excommunication,
to open them and return to their wonted business.
The houses of the Mussulmanee dancing-girls—in
expiation of the offences of one of their tribe—were
plundered by the outraged Hindoos. There was a
great strife between the Temporal and the Spiritual
power; and the former was worsted in the encounter.
So Runjeet was fain to withdraw himself from the
seene of turmoil, and to make his escape to Lahove.*

And thither Metcalfe speedily followed him. But
the change of scene did not induce a change of con-
duct. Runjeet still maintained a cautious silence,
and ¢ found fresh excuses for delaying his answer to
the demands that had been made upon him” by the
British Government. At length, on the 17th of De-
cember, just as the Hnvoy was writing a letter,
peremptorily calling upon the Rajah to declare his
intentions without longer delay, a message of invita-
tion came from the Sikh, and Metcalfe procecded
to his presence. But even then the old reserve was
apon him. Runjeet appeared caveworn and thought-
ful, and little inclined to address himself to affairs
of State. His troubles had followed him from Um-
ritsur to Lahore. The Hindoos were thronging
round the walls of his palace, and sitting dhuraa at
his gates.t He was ready, therefore, with more
excuses, and eager for more delay. He told Melealfe

* Mr. Mutcalfe to Mr. Edmonstons, fasting and prayer at a :}i:ia" d_mr
Theeember 14, 1808, —an expressive kind of practical
T To wit “ dhurne” is to sit in  curse.
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that ¢ his atfention had been much engaged by the
disturbances at Umritsur and Lahore; that he had
had to dismiss his chiefs and followers to their homes;
that several of those with whom he was in the habit
of consulting were absent, and that, to say the truth,
aftor four months’ campaigning he felt an inclina-
tion for some rest.”* And all that Metcalfe, pressing
him sorely, could extract from him was the old pro-
mise that he would see him, and make * a full com-
munication on the following day.”

But with the new day, after the old fashion, came
new excases, Runjeet’s Ministers had tried to re-
coneile Metealfe to the eccentricities of their chief;
but the English gentleman had answered with be-
coming firmness that, although the eccentricities
were sufficiently apparent, he could not admit that
they furnished any justification for his conduct. In
vain they pleaded that Runjeet had never been
habituated to control—that flushed with continual
success he had ever regarded himself, and himselt
alone, as the arbiter of his conduct—that he was a
man of a headstrong and ungovernable nature, and
that some allowances ought to be made for him.
Metealfe was not to be driven from the position he
had taken up. The business in hand, he said, was
an affair between two states, and no considerations
of personal character should be admitted in justifi-
gation of conduei which violated the rights and
lowered the dignity of the Government which he

* My, Metculft to Ay, Edinonstone, Deoember 18, 1808,

G,
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tepresented.* And he desired the Sikh Minister to
inform his master that he was surprised at the re.
peated excuses he had received, and impatient of
farther delay. Butin spite of this, on the following
morning, Rumjeet’s confidential advisers again ap-
peared before Metcalfe as the bearers of further ex-
ouses, and to request one more day’s delay. Every-
thing, they announced, was in train for the conclusion
of the business, and now, at last, procrastination was
at an end.t There was, indeed, no longer a pretext
for evasion; and so, on the morning of the 20th of
December, the long-delayed conference appeared to
be on the point of accomplishment. But instead of
Mmeeting the Rajah himself, Metcalfe nmet only*a larze
assembly of his councillors. There was a long and
animated, but an unsatisfactory debate. The young

* The passages in Metcalft's cov-
espondence deseriptive of this scene
Mmerit quotation. “I asked,” he wrote
to the Chicf Sccretury, “what expla-
Mation I ghould offer to my Govern-
Ment for the delay which had taken
Dlace on the part of the Tajab.
Ingmnm«md-doen begged me to bear in
'mind that the Rajah, from the carliest
8¢, had been without contrel; that
his disposition had, in consequence,

e ungovernable ; that he had
ughout life acted according to his
stasure; that God had prospered all

Sundertakings; that he had acquired
a lml_.'nt of acling without relrence to

& Inclination of others ; aud that
or2¥ances onglit to be made for these
Sonsiderations, I observed that the

NAl'S ecoentricities were evideat
:nough, and that I had been often
iﬁ“m by them; that they would,

e, be very entertaining if they
did uo} fugerg ith

Mterfore 80 much with im-
Portant business; but that I eonld not

state thom to my Government to we-
count for the Rajah’s conduct, as any
consideration for them would be inad-
missible, The British Goyvernment,
I remarked, could only judge of the
Rajah by his acts, and if these were
imiproper, could not think of justify-
ing them by any reference to lis odi-
cation. I pressedupon the attention of
Imaum-ood-deen that it was Necestnry
for the Mali-rajah toreflect that every
matter pending was between Govern-
ment and Government ; and that it
was indispensable that he should lay
aside the notion that he might act
accortding to his own pleasure without
regard to the rights snd dignity of the
British Government.”

1 Une of the excuses advanced by
Runjeet wis founded on the absence
of a eouncilivr—Mith Singh—in whom
he professed great faith. Thia man
had been summonet to Lahore, and
was now in attendance on tho Rajah.

T2
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English statesman had a host of antagonists, but he
was more than a match for them all. He told the
Sikh chiefs that the plan which the British Govern-
ment purposed to pursue was conceived in a friendly
spirit, and to be prosecuted in a friendly manner ;
but that the determination which had been an-
nounced was fixed and irrevocable, and that it were
well that this should be understood by their master.®

The object of this preliminary conference was
plainly to sound Metealfe. But the councillors re-
tired carrying with them nothing that was likely to
soothe the apprehensions of their chief. And when,
at last, on the following day, the British Envoy met
Runjeet himself, all that the wily Sikh could do was
to repeat oft-refuted arguments, and to put unprofit-
able questions. The Rajah asked why we called upon
him to withdraw from the left bank of the Sutlej—
why we demanded that he should restore the places
he had already captured ? And Metealfe answered
plainly and firmly, with undeniable logie, that the
British Government intended to take those prinei-

* 7 was pressed,” wrote Metealfe,
“to say distinetly whether the de-
mands of the British Government wore
meaht to be made amicably or not, I
replied that that question was sn-
swered by 80 many cirenmetances
that I wondered it could be put, Why,
1 asked, was I here? Why had the
(iovernor-General addressed afriendly
lotter to the Rajuh? Why had ¥
given in a long explanatory note?
Why hind the Maln-rajah expressed
his satisfaction at the eontonts of
these communications, and obsorved
that fricndly remonstrances could not
Lie produced without regurd? Of
cowrse I said the demands that I had
presented were made with friendly

intentions. In order to prevent the
construction that might be assumed
that my consent would be obtained
to a protracted discussion of the re-
speetive rights of the British Govern-
ment and the Rajah of Lahore to
political supremacy in the countr
between the Jumna and the Sutla),
and to econvince all present that b
would be in vain to agitate that ques-
tion, I declared decidedly that with
respect to the demands that I had
wiady T must persist in them, and
could not relax in any degreo: that
the orlers of my Government were

final, and that I would not i
any diseretion,” T

¥
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palities under its protection—and how could they be
proiected when the Rajah threatened them with his
armies, or had absolutely brought them under his
rule? But still a decisive answer was not to be
elicited. Tn general terms the Envoy was told that
an arrangement would he made honorable to both na-
tions ; but Metcalfe saw plainly that no arrangement
was likely to be made without an appeal to arms.

A crisis, indeed, was now fast approaching. It
has been seen that the British Government had an-
nounced to Metcalfe its intention of moving forward
a body of troops to take post upon the Sutlej. This
announcement had not yet been made to Runjeet;
but the time for a full revelation of our intentions
seemed now to have arrived. It was doubtful, indeed,
whether yumors of the threatened movement had
not already reached the Sikh ruler, for he was col-
leeting troops, seemingly in anticipation of a coming
struggle. It appeared expedient, therefore, to Mot
calfe to warn the military authorities of the proba-
bility of resistance being offered to the demands of
the British Government. So he wrote the following
letter to the Commander-in-Chief, setting forth the
grounds on which he based his belief in the likelihood
of a speedy collision ;¥

“To his Bacellency Lisutenant-General G Yeorae Tlawiti,
C‘ommr:m{g'r—:'u-t:'fz.ie;}; ge., &e., de.
“ Lahore, December 3, 1808,
%8~ . . .. Iticknownto your Excellency that the subju-
gution of the conntry between the Sutlej and the Jumna 18 the

. * The commencement of the ltter tation of facrts with which the reader
8 omitted, p3 it contuing ouly a reci- is aireaily acquainted,
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favorite ohject of the Rajah’s ambition. His pride is eo much
conzerned in maintaining that object, that Thave no hesitation in
offering it as my opinion that nothing but a conviction of
the absolute impossibility of disputing the point with us with
the smallest hope of success would induce him to assent to our
demands.

“ Tt must be supposed that that convietion is 1mprc'-'sed on his
mind, and it is difficult to conceive that he would be so rash as
to encounter the perils of a contest with the British power.

“ Seyeral considerations, however, exist, in my opinion, to
oppose the conclusion that he certainly will not offer resiztance
1o our projected arrangements.  His rooted jealousies will lead
him to suspect that the arrangements which Government has
now resolved to adopt are only preliminary to a more extensive
design of conquest in the Punjab, and he may think it not
more dangerous to be overcome in a struggle, than to submit
yuistly to the result, inevitable, perhaps, in his view of the in-
ereasing expansion of our influence. He may be induced, by
lis ideas of honor, to suppose that it will be more credifable
{0 be reduced by a war with a superior power than to yield his
tavorite object without a struggle. His knowledge of the mode-
ration of the British Government towards a hllcn enemy may
diminish in his eight the ultimate dangers of a contest; and acer-
tain (legree of confidence which he reposes in his fortune, and o
belief in the infullibility of predestination, may afford some
encourngoment to lus elated mind to incur the hazard of a war.

“ The delay which he still makes does not appear to me to
afford any certain indication of his disposition ; because, although
he might intend to assent ultimately to our demands, he would
naturally wish to try the effects of procrastination and negotia-

tion; and although he might be determined to resist them, he
would still wish to gain time.

# ] understand, however, that he has issued orders to sollect
iroops; and under the cirenmstance of his delaying to make any
sutisfactory reply to our requisitions, this step, 1maccompfm.l;}_[
by any explanation, cannot bear any favorable interpretation.

THE MISSION 170 LAHORLE.
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id, it appears to me to be offensive, and L shall think

Af authorised to require an account of it. Even this mea

ce, however, may proceed more from fear and suspicion than
rom a determination to oppose us.

“With reference to all the considerations stated in this
despatch, T think it my duty to submit to your Excellency’s
notice my opinion that actual circumstances do not afford
sufficient ground to entertain a confident expectation  that
Runjeet Singh will assent, without opposition, to the arrange-
ments which Government has determined to adopt.

“T shall transmit to your Excellency the earliest intelligence
of any decisive turn that may take place in the Rajah’s conduct.

“T have not yect announced to him the resolution adopted by
Government to advance a detachment towards the Sutlej; but
I propose to make that communication this day, and perhaps
the result of it will enable ma to offer to your Excellency some
Inore certain information.

“ I have the honor to be, with great respect,

“Your Excellency’s most obedient, humble servant,
%0 T. METCALPE,”

. Having despatched this letter, Metealfe’s next
care was to intimate distinctly and decisively to

- Runjeet Singh that the British Government pue-
posed, without further delay, to advance a military
force to the banks of the Sutlej. The gamewas now
nearly plaved out, On the 22nd of December the
British Envoy and the Sikh Rajah were again face
to face. The communication was made. Runject
told his attendant cliefs to consider of the matter;
and, under the influence of self-control such as he
tarely exercised, fell into friendly conversation with
the English gentleman. Several questions were
usked concerning the British detachment—avhat
would be its strength P—where it would be posted—
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whether at Loodhianab, or what other place ?

all of this Metcalfe answered, that the details of
movement were matters of future consideration. :
hint from the consulting chiefs here drew the Rajah
aside. A brief conversation between them ensued.
Then Runjeet, having ordered Uzeezoodeen to state
his opinions to the British Envoy, left the room,
mounted his horse, and with what appeared to
Metealfe  surprising levity,” began prancing ahout
the court-yard of his residence.* There was good
reason afterwards to think that this was less an
indication of levity than of the strong feeling which
was working within him.

‘Whilst Runjeet was caracolling about the court-
yard, Uzeezoodeen delivered his master’s message.
It was not a conciliatory one; and it was not given
in a conciliatory manner. The Rajah, he said, had
flattered himself that the intercourse between the
two states would be conducive to his welfare; but

* Metealfe’s words are: % On a hing
from the party aside, the Rajah with-
drew to join them; and after a con-
sultation, sent them to me with o
message, and procceded himself with
surprising levity to mount his lhorse
and prance about the court-yard of
lis residence.” Iam tho more par-
tioular in glving the exact words of
the writer, inasmnch ae that this story
has been variously narrated, and has
obtained, perhaps, w wider currency
than any other incident in Meteulfo's
life. The current version of the story
is this, whicl I flud in s Jeading article
of the Zimet newspuper, written in
December, 1839 “ When these terms
were propounded to him, Runject,
after a short aid futile attempt (o
overbear the British Ambassador,
ruzhed ount of an nparttnent, an ele-

vated summer-room, in which the
conference had taken place, and in an
incredibly short space of time, Sir
Charles Metcalfe saw him on horse-
back, at the head of his immediate
suite, galloping in the most furious
manner over the plain below. When
he had thug digested his spleen he re-
tared, and after telling the Envoy
that he always took this extruor-
dinary anodyne under extreme vexa-
tion, expressed bis determination to
submit implicitly to the requirements
of the British ‘Government” This
slory is go wuch more striking and
pleturesque than that which T have
given in the fext, that I have been
really sorry to substitute the home-
Her orsion which 1 ligve found in
Metealfe’s own handwriting, written
onthe day after the weident ocourred,
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" 1 this, in reply to a friendly application, he

" leived a message of so extraordinary a natuve,
“he did not know what to make of it. "What

s the use, it was asked, of a small post on the
Sutlej ? — surely such a demonstration would not
deter the T'rench from advancing. To this Metecalfe
replied, that all idea of deterring the French was
out of the question—that he had made certain dis-
tinet propositions to the Rajah, and that he called
Afor an answer equally distinct. The decided tone in
which he spoke was not without its effect on the
Sikh councillors. Runjeet had by this time dis-
mounted and seated himself in another chamber,
where Uzeezoodeen and his associates waited upon
him with Metcalfe’s message. What passed there
can only be conjectured. The consultation was a
long one; and when the Ministers returned, their
bearing was strangely altered. They spoke mow
with an affable manner, and in a softened tone.
They said that the plan of advancing a British de-
tachment to the banks of the Sutlej would not be
opposed by the Rajah, if it were done in concert
with him, and in a friendly manner. The answer
was, that if the requisitions of the British Govern-
ment, from which the Envoy would on no account
recede, were complied with, everything would be
done in a friendly manner. Again the councillors
sought the Rajah; and again, after a protracted
consultation, they returned to the room where Met-
calfe was quietly awaiting them. The answer they
brought back was more satisfactory than he could
have anticipated even in his most singuine mo-
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ments. The Rajah, they said, was confide,’ o

friendly intentions, and agreed to all our pro 8 of
“And so,” wrote Metcalfe, “the demands tr.
had presented, vespecting which I had not been a
for a fortnight to procure the least answer, were
now treated as if they were mere trifles with which
there was mot the smallest difficulty in complying.”

But these were mere idle words—vague generalities
meaning nothing. On the same evening a deputation
waited on Metealfe to inform him that the proposal
to advance troops to the Sutlej was so extraordinary,
that the Rajah could not give any definite answer
to the requisitions of the British Government until
hie had eomsulted with his chiefs; that he therefore
purposed to proceed on the following day to Um-
ritsur; and that he requested the British Envoy to
follow him there. At this, Metcalfe, wontedly so
calm in his outward demeanor, fived up with be-
coming indignation. He thought, with the prophet
of old, that he “did well to be angry.” Ie de-
nounced the conduct of the Rajah as mere trickery
to gain time—trickery often repeated and now well
understood. e declared that such conduct was
disrespectful in the extreme to the British Govern-
ment ; that if the Rajah determined to march, in
the midst of the negotiation, he could not control
him; but that against such a proceeding he ecar-
nestly and indignantly protested.

The remonstrance was not without its effect. The
precipitate movement to Umritsur was abandone( ;
and the negotiations were resumed. But thers was
still the old system of chicanery at work—still the
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old excuses and the old delays. Foiled in his at-
tempts either to overbear or over-reach Metealfe in
oral discussion, Runjeet now resorted to epistolary
communication. First of all he attempted a com-
promise; but the young English statesman was re-
solute to submit to no half-measures. He called
for the fulfilment of the requisitions of the British
Government without stint or reservation ; and his
unshaken firmness ere long achieved the desired
victory. Little by little, Runjeet, not without fresh
displa.ys of procrastination and evasion, yielded to
the demands of the British Envoy. He saw that
the announcement of the intended advance of a
British detachment was not an empty menace.
Metealfe, it has been seen, was in communication
with the Commander-in-Chief, whose head-quarters
were in Saharunpore ; and under instructions from
his Excellency, a detachment had been ordered for
service on the banks of the Sutlej. This detachment
was placed under the command of the fittest man in
the army that could have heen nominated for the
performance of such a duty. It was placed under
the command of Colonel David Ochierlony. Early
in January it was ordered to advance.

The first service to be performed by this force was
the expulsion of the Bikh troops from Umballah,
where a considerable body had been for some time
posted. But the Rajah promised to withdraw his
men to his own side of the river, and desired Met-
ealfe to consider it as done. But Pexformance; in
this case as in others, lagged far bhehind Promise;
and Metealfe, weary of all this falsehood and fraud,
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came to the determination that the time had come
for his departure from Runjeet’s Court, if the state
of the military preparations on the frontier seemed
to warrant so decided a step. But it was now the
policy of both parties to temporise. Runjeet was
~ collecting troops, and eager to gain time. General
Hewitt was making his dispositions, and eager also
to gain time. Metcalfe was recommended to tem-
porise; and by delay the war was averted. Awed
by the resolute bearing of his antagonists, the Sikh
began siowly and reluctantly to fulfil the conditions
demanded by the British Government. On the 6th
of January, one of Runjeet’s chiefs was despatched
to Umballah to recall the troops posted there, and to
make restitution of the place to its rightful owner.
In consequence of this, negotiations were resumed
at Umritsur, to which place the Court and the
Mission quietly proceeded in the middle of January.
Presuining on what he had done in the way of con-
eession, Runjeet demanded that now a treaty of
general amity should be concluded. But Metcalfe
pointed out that other conditions were yet to be
fulfilled ; that if Umballah were restored, Kheir and
Fureed-kote were not; and that he demanded the
cession of all the territory acquired since the arrival
of the Mission. Tt would take long to tell how
Runjeet promised and broke his promises; and how
from day to day the restitution of these places was
delayed; how the Sikh continued to demand a
treaty, and how the British Envoy called for the
fulfilment of the conditions necessary to the attain-
ment of what he sought. The month of January
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\jiagss/cd away; and the month of February passed
away. Military preparations ¢ . both sides were ad-
vancing ; but still Metcalfe remained at Runjeet’s
Court—still the negotiations appeared every morning
to be approaching a favorable issue, and still every
evening it was clear that these appearances had
been most delusive.*

1t was whilst affairs were in this state that an in-
cident occurred which awakened Runjeet to a sense
of the danger which he would incur by a collision
with the British troops. At the end of February,
the annual festival of the Mokuirrum was celebrated
by the Mahomedan sepoys of Metealfe’s escort. It
is the custom of the followers of the I’rophet(;
spend upon this great oceasion considerable sums .
money on the construction and decoration of gigan
cars, called Tazeeahs, which are paraded about {
several days in a noisy, obtrusive manner, to {the
areat delight of all true Mahomedans, who pride
themselves upon the grandeur of the ceremon,, and
are little disposed to be stinted in their demonstra-
tions. Now the Mussulman sepoys of Metcalfe’s
escort, according to the custom of their scet, made a

* Among other complaints that
Runjeet made, was one to the efteet
that Metealfe treated him like a Ja-
geerdar (or pensioner). “ He (Run-
Jeet) observed (to Hafoozoodeen) on
my note, that when he made any pro-
posal, I replied that I had no. autho-
Tity; but when I brought forward my
own proposals, Tissned my commands
to him as authoritatively as if he wore
only §  Jageerdar,"—< Considaring. ™
Wiote Metealfo, *the efforts which I

4ve always made to conciliate the
Rajah--considering the patience and

forbearance whicli I have exercised
from first to last in my commuuicn-
tions with him--consideting that I
have been burely acqnitted by my owa
Government of the fanlt of carryving
moderatilon to a disgraceful length——
and considering, morecver, that the
late proceedings at this Court have
put my patience to & severer {rial
than it had ever before undergone, I
did not expect this charge from the
Rajuh,"—[ Mr. Mewalfe to My, Ed-
monstone, Junuary 4, 1809.]



Tazeeah at the appointed time, and paraded it about,
with the usual ceremonies, in the neighbourhood of
the Mission camp. For three or four days this
went on without interruption; and then Metcalie
was informed that the display of the Tazeeah gave
oreat offence to the priests of the great temple of
Umritsur. Had he known this before, he would
have prohibited the celebration of the festival, how-
ever unpopular the prohilition might have been to
all the Mahomedans in his camp. As it was—as the
ceremonies were now nearly over—he contented him-
self with giving orders that they should be performed
for the future in the most noiseless and uncbtrusive

4 Juner, and that the Tazeeah should not be any

Jre paraded about in public. All this was done in

cert with Runjeet Singh, who condemned the

gotry of the priests; and it was hoped that no
~eyil consequences would arise from this periodical
display of Mahomedan zeal. I did everything that
conid be done,” said Metealfe, reporting the circum-
stances to Government, “to prevent any offence
being taken, except destroying the Tazeeah itself.
That could not be done without exciting great indig-
nation among the Mahomedans; and I had a right
to cxpeet that within the precincts of the British
enmp my attendaats would be protected by the Go-
vernment in the free exercise of their religion.”

Still further to prevent the possibility of a eollision,
it was agreed between Motealfe and Runjeet that
the former should restrain the sepoys from going
ato the town, aund the latter should prevent the

ole from entering the Mission camp. The
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Unglish gentleman performed his part of the com-
pact ; the Sikh ruler did not. On the morning of the
25th of February a party of religious fanaties—hali-
soldiers, half-devotees — known as Akalis, marched
out of the town, with drums beating and colors
flying, followed by a surging rabble, intent upon
the plunder of the British Mission. As they neared
our camp, the escort, headed by Captain Popham,
was drawn up in front of it, whilst Metcalfe sent
out some persons to parley with the excited Sikhs.
Still, however, they continued to advance in the
same menacing attitude, and presently opened a
brisk fire on the British camp. It took immediate
effect.  Our men were dropping in the ranks. There
was now no time to be lost. Popham proposed that
e should advance upon his assailants; and with
Metcalfe’s sanction he attacked them. The move-
ment was a spirited and a successful one. The
Sikhs were soon flying in confusion, and secking
shelter under the walls of the town.

The disturbance was immediately known to Run-
jeet, who rode out to the British camp, and exerted
himself to quell the tumult. But all his endeavors
could not quiet the fanatics. A party of Akulis
again assembled and marched out of the town,
threatening another attack on the Mission. During
the vest of the day, and all through the night, they
continued in force upon the plain; so Ruunjeet sent
out a body of his own troops to protect the British
camp from further outrage. On the following day
it was removed to a greater distance from the town,
where it remained unplumdered snd unmolested,
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whilst the ceremonies of the Mohurrum were pro-
secuted to the end in the quiet manner originally
intended.

The blood that was shed upon this occasion was
not shed in vain. Runjeet, who had before seen
our sepoys in the exercise of mimic war, now saw
them in the stern realities of action. He learnt,
for the first time, what was their temper —what
was their steadiness, what their diseipline in actual
warfare. This little handful of British soldiers had
routed a vastly superior body of Sikhs; and Runjeet
began to ask himself how, if the people of Hindostan,
drilled in the English fashion, could do such things,
the English themselves must fight; and how it
would fare with him, if he were to meet many
thousands of them on the banks of the Sutlej, sup-
ported by their far-reaching guns.

8o, although this dlbtmbance of course afforded a
pretext for some further evasions and delays, Run-
jeet, beset by obstinate doubts and painful self-
questionings, soon came to the conclusion that a
war with the Feringhees was an event not much to
be desired. But still it was not in the nature of the
man 10 proceed to the performance of his past pro-
mises in a plain, straightforward manner. The old
shifts, however, could not serve him much longer.
Our military preparations were advancing ; and al-
veady our attitude was an imposing one. Ochter-
lony had teken post on the Sutlej; and had issued a
p}l'uclamatirm, declaring all the Sikh states upon the
left bank of the river to be under British protection.*

* The proclimation bears date Fobruary 9, 1809,
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A strong body of troops, under General St. Leger,
was ready to move forward to his support. Nor
was it only his confidence in these military prepa-
rations which, at this time, impelled Metealfe to
assume a bholder tone in all his negotiations. The
great object for which he had been despatched to
Lahore had now ceased to exist. The whirligig of
Time had rendered an anti-Gallican alliancc with
the rulers of the Punjab a matter of small concern
to the British-Indian Government.* Tt little mat-
tered now whether Runjeet were our enemy or our
friend. From the path of the British Envoy this
change in the state of our European polities cleared
away a jungle of difficulties and perplexities. He had
now only to support the dignity of the great nation
which he represented; and he was not slow to re-
commend the most decided measures, even to the
extreme one of the invasion of the Punjab. It was
with no small delight that he flung behind him the
thou.ght- of all farther compromises and concessions,
and prepared to give the signal for the immediate
commencement of war.

* These altered circumstances were

duly announced to Runjeet. Writing,
subsequently, a letter of recapitula-
tion, Metealfe said: “Immediately
after T had the honor of receiving
i‘ou_r despatch of the 23rd of Junuary,
informed Runject Singh, at a con-
ference which I had with him, that 1
hiad been instructed to intimate to
im that authentic intelligenco had
I received of the French having
suftered repeated defeats in Europe
from his Majeaty’s armies and those
of his allies; and of their being in
embarrassments, which would render
VOL. I.

impracticable the prosecution of those
Tostile projects ngainst this country,
against which it was the object of
my mission to provide—that, conse-
quently, there was no necessity for
the conclusion of the treaty which'1
had formerly proposed, or for any
specific engagements between the two
states, who were alrewdy bound by
the relations of amity and friendship.”
The announcement bad not much
eifect upon Runject. Metealfe wos
obliged to acknowledge that “the
Rajah did not ¢xpress the disappoint-
ment which he bad expeeted.”

X
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But awed by the proximity of an event which
must have overwhelmed him in disaster and disgrace,
and for ever checked his career of ambition, Runjeet
was now fulfilling slowly and reluctantly the behests
of the British Government. In the early part of i
March, Kheir was restored to its legitimate owners;
and now the restitution of Fureed-kote alone re- I
mained. A series of incidents of the most trivial
character delayed the accomplishment of this; but
it was plain to Metealfe that the Rajah really de-
signed to fulfil his promise, though he was thwarted
by the trickery or the contumacy of those who,
perhaps, desived to embroil him in a war with the I
PBritish. Tn January he had talked vauntingly of
discussing the restitution of Fureed-kote with his

. chiefs, at the head of his army on the banks of the

> Sutlej. But he was now, in March, again abandon:

: ing himself to pleasure, and rather suffering by his
remissness, than really designing or desiring, the de-
lays which obstructed the fulfilment of his promise.

From this pleasant forgetfulness Metcalfe roused
him by a missive, which flashed the sunlight into
his sleeping face. The Maha-rajah,” he wrofe to
him on the 26th of March, “is revelling in delight
in the Shalimar gardens, unmindful of the duties of
Friendship. What Friendship requires is not done;
nor is it doing.. I entertained a great desive and
hope that the relations of Friendship might be
ﬁrmly eawblishcd.through wy mediation. I have
nothing now remaining in my power but to require
leave to depart. I, therefore, in the name of the
Pritish Government, require my dismissal, and trust
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that the Maha-rajah will farnish me with a proper
escort to conduct me to the British armies, and pre-
vent any aggression on the part of the Maha-rajah’s
army on the way.”

To this Runjeet replied that the delights of the
garden of Friendship far exceeded the delights of
a garden of roses—that the demand of the British
Envoy for an escort would certainly excite great
surprise—and that what he desired should imme-
diately be done. And steps were certainly taken to
do it. But just at the point of consummation, new
difficulties supervened. A dispute arose about the
grain in the fort; and the party sent to hand over
the place to its old legitimate owners, retired with-
out accomplishing their object. But Runjeet saw
that any further obstractions would work grievously
to his detriment. Metcalfe had written to General
St. Leger desiring him to expel the occupants of
Fureed-kote, and hinted to the Rajah that there was
yet time to prevent this display of force. Through-
out the whole of these protracted negotiations, no
such potential argument had been used, though
Runjeet now protested against it. ¢ I must observe,”
he wrote with a bypocritical naiveté which is very
diverting, * that when matters are settled in an
amicable and friendly way, to talk of armies and
such things is neither necessary nor pleasing to my
friendly disposition.” But the ‘““talk of armies™
effected at once what might, by dallying in the
“ garden of Friendship,” have been long delayed;
and on the 5th of April, Metcalfe wrote to the Chief
Becretary, “ T haye the honor to inform you, that

X2
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Fureed-kote was finally surrendered to the right
owners on the 2nd instant.”

8o now, after long delays and repeated evasions—
after a systematic display of the most pitiful tor-
tuosity, which now excited the anger and now the
contempt of Metcalfe, and rendered necessary the
exercise not only of consummate ability and address,
but of the highest patience and forbearance—all
that the British Government demanded was done
by the Sikh ruler. And then came the question of
the treaty. Whilst on the banks of the Sutlej time
was being wasted in the manufacture of difficulties
about the surrender of Fureed-kote, on the banks of
the Hooghly Lord Minto and his councillors were
discussing the expediency of concluding engagements
of general amity with Runjeet Singh. At first it
seemed advisable to them, now that the danger of
European invasion had passed away, not to encum-
ber the Government with any treaties which might
embarrass their future proceedings. But they sub-
sequently considered, that in the event of all our
requisitions being complied with by the Sikh chief,
it might be in some sort an act of justice to him to
grant the treaty which Metealfe had led him to ex-
pect, and which he urged the Supreme Government
to allow ;* whilst at the same time, no great harm
could result from it if it were unencumbered with
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*This intention was first annsunced

to Metcalfe in a private letter from
Mr. Edmonstone, dated March 14,
1809 : * Your letter of the 15th of
¥ebruary was received on the 11th,
and it was yesterday resolved to grant
- @ fresty to Runjeet Singh of general
amity, containing, however, some

conditions regpecting his troops o1
this side the Sutlej. T had oceasion
to draw up a Momorandum on the
sithject, and to state in substance the
same arguments which I found so ably
sfated in your letter No. 49, which
did not arrive till to-day,”
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inconvenient details. In accordance with these
more mature considerations, instructions were sent
on the 18th of March to the British Envoy, giving
him authority to conclude a treaty with the Rajah,
and forwa.]_-(]_ing to him the fo]lowing draft :

THE DRAFT TREATY,

“ Draft of a Treaty between the British Government and the
Rajak of Lalore.

& Whereas certain differences which had arisen between the
British Government and the Rajah of Lahore have been happily
and amicably adjusted, and both parties being anxious to main-
tain the reletions of perfect amity and concord, the following
articles of treaty, which shall be binding on the heirs and suc-
cesors of the two parties, have been concluded, by the agency
of C. T. Metcalfe, Esq., on the part of the British Government,
and of [ ], on the part of Rajah Runjeet Singh*

“ Art, 1. Perpetual friendship shall subsist between the
British Government and the State of Lahore; the latter shall
be considered, with respect to the former, to be on the footing
of the most favored powers, and the British Government will
have no concern with the territories and subjects of the Rajah
to the northiward of the river Sutlej.t

s Art. 2. The Rajah will never maintainin the territory which
he occupies [occupied by him and his dependents]i on the left
bank of the river Sutlej more troops than are necessary for
the internal duties of that ferritory, nor commit or sufier any

* In the preamble of -the ratified
treaty it runs: * By Rajah Runjeet
Singh on his own part, and by the
agency of Charles Theophilus Met-
ealfe, Ksquire, on the part of the Bri-
tish Government.”

_ 1 Inthe original draft of the treaty
in Mr. Edmonstone’s handwriting,
there is this addition to the first ar-
ticle: © And on the other hand the
Rajah renounces all claims to sove-
reignly over the Sikh chiefs to the

gouthward of that river, and all right
of interference in their concerns.”
But this passage was subsequetitly
crased; it was of too general » cha-
raoter: for the Rajah, as the next ar-
ticle intimates, still held cortain tracts
of territory, acquired hofore the arrival
of the Mission, on the left or sonthern
bank of the Sutle].

1 The words: in brackets wers in-
sorted by Metealfe in the place of
those printed in italics.
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encroachments on the possessions or rights of the chiefs in its
viginity. :

% Art. 3. In the event of a violation of any of the preceding
articles, or of a departure from the rules of friendship [on the
part of either state],* this treaty shall be considered to be null
and void.

¢ Art, 4. This treaty, consisting of four articles, having been
settled and concluded at [ ], on the [ ] day of -
[ Tot Mr. C. T. Metcalfe has delivered to the Rajah
of Lahore & copy of the same in English and Persian, under
his seal and signature, and the -Rajah has delivered another
copy of the same under his seal and signature, and Mr, C. T.
Metcalfe engages to procure, within the space of two months,
a copy of the same duly ratified by the Right Honorable the
Governor-General in Council, on the receipt of which by the
Rajah the present treaty shall be decmed complete and binding
on both parties, and the copy of it now delivered to the Rajah
shall be returned.

TEE MI1SSION 70 LAHORE,

¢ N. B. EDMONSTONE,
¢ Chief Secretary.”

On the receipt of this draft, all his demands hav-
ing by this time been complied with, Metealfe in-
formed the Rajah that he was prepared to conclude
a treaty of general amity with him. Runjeet re,
ceived the anmouncement with undisguised delight.
The treaty, he said, would silence and shame those
who had been endeavoring to persuade him that
the British Government entertained hostile designs
against the Sikh territories. There was no roem
now for any further chicanery. Runjeet had nothing

¥ Thesy words were inserted by Sikhs, gives the froaty, as matified

Metealfe at Lhe requost of the suspl-  withogt Metoulfi's w“ﬁ'uom’ whk:l;
cious Rejah. It is remarkabls that Governwment approved and adepted.

¥ Coniogham, in his bistory of the At Umritsur, on the 25th of Fob,
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to gain by delay; so on the 25th of April, 1809, this
treaty was concluded at Umritsur; the blanks in
the a1 tive title being filled up with the name
of Runjeet Singh himself.

The business of the Mission was now fully acconi-
plished ;* so Metcalfe prepared to return to the
British provinees. ¢ I have this day,” he wrote on the
2nd of May, ¢ made my first march from Umritsur
towards the British territories, having finally taken
leave of Runjeet Singh. The departure of the Mission
took place with every essential mark of attention and
vespect on the part of the Rajah, He visited me on
the 28th ultimo, and received an entertainment at
my tents preparatory to our separation. I visited
him on the 80ith, accompanied by the gentlemen
attached to the Mission, and took leave publicly
with the usual ceremonies. Both these meetings
were convivial and pleasant; and the Rajah’s be-
haviour was particularly friendly and agreeable. At
his particular vequest I remained yesterday at Unn-

% 1t may be mentioned here that
Government had originally intended
that the advanced detachment shounld
be withdrawn fropa the banks of the
Sutle). But on the earnest represens
tations both of Metealfo and Ochter-
lony the oceupation of Loodhianah
was continued, and from that time it
became & frontier post. 1t may be
doubtad, howeyer, whether this would
litye happened but for an aceidental
cireumstance which caused Govern.
ment to delay the withdrawal of the
troups. Writing to Metealfe privately
ot the 28th of May, Mr, Edmonatons
eoys: Wy hnye heard of the defeat
\15‘ the King of Csbul's army in
Cashmere, and anticipated Mp, Fil-
Phingtoue's awkwad stiuation. You
Will lewm from M, Seton what hos

been done at Peshawur, and what
has been ordered. This is an unfor-
tunate turn of affairs, but the advan-
tages of the Mission will not have
been entively lost. 1 have written
officially to head-quurters about leavs
ing the detachment at Loodhiavah
until Elphinstone shall have passed,
s ils presence may poesibly connte-
nanoe his journey through the Panjabg
although 1 should think the Coms
mander-in-Chief would net removo
tho post until he heard of the ratifi-
cation of the treaty, notwithstanding
the intimation comtained in my Mok
letter that the conclusion of the
treaty would afford a favorablo op-
portsiaity for the vemoval of thi des
tachment."—[ M8, Correspondinee.]
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ritsur, and saw him once more in a private in-
terview, at which his conversation was principally
composed of expressions of anxiety for the permé-
nent maintenance of friendship between the two
states.”

At this time Runjeet Singh was in the very flush
and vigor of life. He lived for thirty years after-
wards; but the treaty which he and Metealfe signed
at Umritsur was never violated during his supre-
macy in the Punjab ecither by the English or the
Sikhs. Por a little while doubts and misgivings
on either side may have overshadowed the relations
subsisting between them; but confidence was soon
established, and Runjeet learnt to respect the nation
which could send forth such representatives as the
youthful Envoy who had measured himself with him
50 bravely and so cunningly during the six months
spent at his Court. It is hard to say in how great
8 degree the long peace, which was maintained be-
tween two warlike and extending states'in provoca-
fory proximity to each other, is to be attributed
%o the firraness and address so conspicuous in the
dealings of young Metcalfe with the wily and un-
serupulous ruler of the Sikhs. But it would be im-
possible to read this account of the first Mission to
Lalore, imperfectly as it sets forth all its incidents,”®

* The contenls of this chapter are
derived from a vast nigss of corre-
apundence; which might have filiod
Bome v_ulmuca. prineipully Metoalfo's
narrative lottira by no meangdiffuzely
writtan—and Klthough this chapter
hing extended to-a longth whieh iz dis-
proportionate to tho space of time
gver whigh the hislory extenda, 1 have

boen compelled toexclude myeh which
would have illastrated both the difli-
culties of Metcalfe's position,; the ad-
dress  with. which he encountered
thain, ad the strange character sl
cemdunt of the men who, perhaps of
all_ the princes and chiefs of Tndia,
snade the nane most familiar (o Bog-
ligh ears. 1t wad during these pix
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out appreciating the difficulties with which ha
had to contend, and the consummate ability with
which he overcame them. He had numbered at
this time but twenty-three years. Yet the dreams
of the Eton cleisters were already realised. He had
“prescribed terms;”’ he had ¢ concluded a peace.’”’*
‘What would he have accomplished at this stage
of his career if he had returned to England, and
entered ¢ Lord Grenville’s office P

It need hardly be added, that Metcalfe’s conduct
at Lahore was approved and applauded by his em-
ployers. He was sustained and encouraged through-
out by the praises of the Supreme Government, con-
veyed to him in the letters of the Chief Secretdry;
and he said that he was abundantly rewarded. In
private and public letters alike, his zeal and ability
were warmly commended. One sample of each will
suffice. Writing privately to Metealfe on the 27th
of December, Mr. BEdmonstone said, “I can add
nothing material to the expressions already conveyed
to you in an official form of the favorable sentiments
which Government entertains of your general con-
duct in a situation perhaps as delicate, difficult, and
responsible as any public agent was ever placed in. T
can assure you that Government is perfectly satisfied
of the difficulties and embarrassments which encoms-
passed you, and admits that the course of conduet
which you pursued was countenanced by the spirit
of your instructions. . ., . ., . Upon the whole,
mewmorable months that Metealfe's re-  and Forfune. And the biographer
ubution wis made, Thiswas, indeed, can havdly, thorefore, Jay tob great a

M€ turning-point of bis caveer. He siress on such o passage of his lifo.
Wwent afierwards straight on to Faume * See ante, page 62.



vour mind may enjoy all the satisfaction—a satis-
faction which you, indeed, must amply merit, that -
can avise from the conviction that Government
entertains the highest opinion of your zeal, ability,
judgment, and exertions.” And when the work was
done and the treaty was exchanged, these commen-
dations fook official shape, and, taking a retrospect
of all the past circumstances of the Mission, the
same high functionary thus finally announced to
the departing Envoy the admiration with which the
Supreme Government contemplated his entire con-
duct : “During the course of your arduous ministry
at the Court of Lahore, the Governor-General in
Couneil bas repeatedly had occasion to record his
testimony of your zeal, ability, and address in the
exccution of the duties committed to your charge.
His Lordship in Council, however, deems it an obli-
gation of justice, at the close of your mission,
generally fo declare the high sense which he enter-
fains of the distingnished merit of your services
and exertions in a situation of more than ordinary
tmportance, difficulty, and responsibility, to convey
to you the assurance of his high approbation, and to
signify to you that the general tenor of your conduct
in the arduous negotiations in which you have
been engaged has established a peculiar claim to
public applause, respect, and esteem.”

THE MISSION TO LAHORE.
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CHAPTER IX,
 [1809—1811.]
TRANSITION YEARS.

Approbation of Lord Minto—Metealfe’s Visit to the Presidency—Meeting
with his Brother—Appointment to tho Deputy-Secretaryship—Voyage to
Madras—Return to Calentta—Appointment to the Resideney at Scindiah’s
Court—Letters from Lord Minto and Mr. Edmonstone—Transiation to the
Delhi Residenoy—The Foundation of Charles Metealfe's Fortune.

Tae admiration which Charles Metcalfe’s conduct
at the Bikh Court had excited in the breast of the
Governor-General was not now to be suffered to ex-
pend itself in a few stereotyped phrases of official
commendation. It was not a mere formal demon-
stration ; it was a living reality, and was likely to
become an abiding one. Lord Minto desired to
know the man who had done such great things for
his government. He was interested in the personal
character of the young statesman, and was eager to
communicate with him face to face. So it happened
that Metcalfe had scarcely reached his old home aé
Delhi, when a private letter from the Chief Secretary
came with the intimation that the Governor-Gencral
desived to see him at the Presidency. 1 am autho-



rised o inform you,” wrote Mr. Edmonstone, “that
you are perfectly at liberty to proceed to Calcutta.
The Governor-General, indeed, is desirous of being
personally acquainted with you, and of having an
opportunity of conversing with you on the affairs in
which you have been so long and arduously engaged.
But it will be proper that you should apply officially
for leave to come to the Presidency. You need not,
however, await the answer. This intimation you
may consider as sufficient authority. IFavor me
with a line of application on your receipt of this,
and set off as soon as it may suit your convenience.”*
Little time was lost after the receipt of this letter;
Metcalfe was soon upon his way to Caleutta. There
were others whom he desired to see there beside the
noble Lord at the head of the Government. Theo-
philus Metcalfe, with his wife and little daughter,
had come round from China to Calcutta in the early
part of the year, for the benefit of Mrs. Metcalfe’s
health, and Charles was eager now to embrace his
beother and sister and make the acquaintance of his
little niece. Public and private considerations,
therefore, both urged him to make all speed to the
Presidency. He had reached Delhi on his return
from the Punjab on the 6th of June. The 8th of
July found him in Calcutta.

But before the journey had been accomplished
Lord Minto bad ceased to disturb himself about the
countries lying between the banks of the Sutlej and
the baso of the Hindoo-Koosh. Dangers more press-
* MY, Correspondénce, Caloytin, My 28, 1809.

<. TRANSITION YEARS.
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ing and more palpable than any that had been
looked for in the direction of Central Asia, were
now threatening the British-Indian Government
from the southern part of the Indian peninsula.
The Coast army was in a state of feverish excitement
—almost, indeed, upon the borders of absolute rebel-
lion. It was not a revolt of the soldiers, but of the
officers of the Madras army. The abolition of cer-
tain privileges by which the higher grades of the
service had been long suffered to envich themselves,
had caused great dissatisfaction, which subsequent
circumstances had aggravated, until the civil and
military authorities were in a state of open and vio-
lent antagonism. The power of the Governor, Sir
George Barlow, was set at naught = seditious meet-
ings were held; inflammatory vesolutions were
passed; and the entire government of the Presi-
dency, under the convulsions that had arisen, seemed
to be hovering upon the extreme verge of dissolution.

In this state of affairs, it appeared to Lord Minto
that his presence upon the scene of these disturb-
ameces was necessary to their extinetion. So he
determined at once to proceed to Madras. But he
did not forget Charles Metcalfe, whom he had in-
vited to visit him in Caleutta. It occurred to the
Governor-General that he could not, upon this pain-
ful expedition to the Coast, take with him any one
more likely to be of service to him than the some-
time Envoy to Lahore. 8o, on the 1bth of July,
the Chief Secvetary wrote to Metealfe that the
Governor-General in Council had been * pleased fo
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appoint him Deputy-Secretary to the Right Honor-
able the Governor-General! during his Lordship's
absence from the Presidency.” *

After a brief sojourn in Calcutta, rendered inte-
resting to him by the presence of Theophilus and his
family, Charles Metcalfe, accompanying Mr. Ed-
monstone, left the Presidency on the 5th of Auguast,
to proceed down the river to join his ship. On the
9th, the Governor-General embarked. The voyage
from Caleutta to Madras occupies a week or a month,
according to the season. 1In the month of August,
when a vessel bound for the southern coast meets
the south-west Monsoon in the Bay of Bengal, the
passage is seldom made under the latter period of
time. So it was not until the 11th of September
that, after a tedious, zig-zag voyage, rendered com-
fortless by continual rain and baffling winds, Lord
Minto was enabled to announce his arrival at
Madras. .

Of this visit to fthe Southern Presidency the
records are but scanty. The ministerial capacity in
which Charles Mefcalfe acted at this time afforded
no opportunities for independent action, and the in-
éidents of the Madras disturbances of 1809 scarcely
belong to the career of the Bengal civilian. His
residence on the Coast was not distasteful to him.
“Yon know Madras well,” he wrote to his aunt,
Mrs. Mouson, on the 13th of November. * In some
respects 1 liko it better than Caleutta.”” He appears

TRANSITION YEARS,

* THn salary was fixed st 2000 Tupees 8 month—the same anoant that he
hed deaws on the Lahore Mission,



oL
to have spent some time in Mr. Cassamajor’s house,*
and to have greatly enjoyed the society of a family
that has never been wanting in amiable and attrac-
tive members. At the close of the year he visited
Mysore ;+ and at the commencement of 1810, having
returned to Madras, he received the afflicting intelli-
gence of the death of his sister-in-law, to whom he
was sincerely attached. ¢ FPoor Theophilus,”” he
wrote on the 10th of February from the Ameer-
baugh, where he was residing with the Governor-
General, “has lost his darling wife, who was really
one of the most sensible, the most amiable, the most
virtuous of women. I received accounts of this
afflicting event about a month ago. Theophilus
goes home with his sweet little daughter, and will
be with you almost as soon as this letter.”” There
was no more observable, as there was no more beau-
tiful trait in Charles Metcalfe’s character, from very
early boyhood to the close of his career, than the
depth of his sympathies—

RESIDENCE AT MADRAS,

He could afford to suffer
With those whom he saw suffor.

And when he wrote strongly of the afflictions of
others, it was because he felt them strongly himself.
On the 12th of May, Lord Minto held a farewell

* Mpr. Cassamajor was at this time
a member of the Madras Council,

1 e went there, I believe, to visit
liig old friend Avthur (ola. I have
before me a lebter from Lord Minto to
Muatealfe, dated * Madras, December
14, 1809,” and endorsed, “ Answered
fiom Mysore, Docember, 1800 In

this letter the Governor-Goneral says:
“ T hope you have by this time affurded
another * proof of your diplomatic
powers by making my peace with Me.
Cole, and that he will not have proved
implacable in the hands of ono who
gained tho wender affections of Ruujeck
pingh."
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levee at the Ameerbaugh, and afterwards crossed the
surf, with his suite, on his way to the Modeste frigate,
which was to convey him to Calcutta.* The Mon-
soon was now all in his favor, and after a pleasant
passage of a week’s duration, he ascended the steps
of the Chandpaul Ghat, the chief landing-place of
Calcutta, and was welcomed back by the members
of council and the chief officers of the staff. A very
few days after this, Charles Metealfe left Calcutta by
dawk, on his way to Banda, whence he was to take
the shortest route to Scindiah’s camp. He had been
appointed to act as Resident at the Court of Dowlut
Hao Scindiah, in the place of Mr. Greeme Mercer,
who had signified his wish to be relieved from the
duties of his office, in order that he might proceed
to England by the first ship of the ensuing season.
It was with no great elation of spirit that Met-
calfe travelled northward to join his appointment.
And there was nothing in the environments of the
Residency to give him pleasure after his arrival. It
is true that he had not now, as ten years before, to
pitch his camp upon a plain, sickly with the foul
odour of decaying corpses. The Court had recently
been removed from Oujein to Gwalior; and the
times were as pacific as they are ever wont to be
in native states, where domestie anarchy is so often
the succedaneum for foreign war. Whether it were
that there was nothing in the state of public affairs
to evoke his energies, or whether there were any per-

TRANSITION YEARS.

* Tt waiild appear, however, from & this: was written, that Metealfe loft
memornidum in a private account- Madras on the 8th, and reached Cal-
bouk which I have elisnced upon since  cutta on the i5th of May.
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sonal circumstances which rendered his situation dis-
agreeable to him, I do not distincily know; but he
spoke of it with evident distaste in his letters to his
family, and all his after-references to it were in the
same strain.*

But this second residence at Scindiah’s Court was
not destined to he of long continuance. At the
Commencement of the following year—1811—an op-
portunity, of which Lord Minto was eager to avail
himself, occurred for the translation of Charles Met-
calfe to the Delhi Residency. A Governor was to be
found for Prince of Wales' Island, and the appoint-
ment was offered to Mr. Seton. In anticipation of
his acceptance of it, the Governor-General wrote the
followiug letter, in a style of pleasant familiarity,
more complimentary to the recipient than if it had

been couched in language of the most labored pane-
gyric:

LORD MINTO TO MR. METCALFE.

* Caleutta, Vebiuary 20, 1811,

“ My pEAR Sir,—You may possibly have already heard,
althcugh it is yet in the Sceres Department, that an offor has
been made to Mr. Seton of the government of Prince of W,
Island; and although it might be thought that he wou
Sider his present situation the most eligible
some reasons for supposing

ales”
Id con-
of the two, 1 have

that he will be inclined to accephb

the proposal. In that event, I shall with (or without) your

S Or the sight or o months  of his life. The doficiency i, Hiwener,
Qb 1 ccalfe spent at Seindiah’s of but siight importanse; for L. was
m “:t Ml L0-11, the records are re- then merely in a transition=state, and
har ahb“ sednty in comparison with nothing geourred which had any no-

fent ek illustrate all the ante- ticeable influsuce either upos hik chn-

b and g

the subsoonent epochs pacter or Lis curoer.
VO, ¥

ot
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consent, name you to the Residency of Delhi. I know your
mattial genius and your love of camps; but besides that n-
clination must yield to duty, this change will appear to fall in
not inopportunely with some information and some sentiments
conveyed in your letter to me of the 3rd instant. If you ask
my reasons for so extraordinary a choice, I can only say that,
notwithstanding your entire ignorance of everything connecie
with the business of Delhi—a city which, I believe, you never
saw; and with Cis and Trans-Sutlejean aflairs, of which you
can have only read; and notwithstanding your equal deficiency
in all other more general qualifications, T cannot find a better
name in the st of the Company’s servants; and hope, there-
fore, for your indulgence on the oeccasion.

I fancy that you must have given me a sly bite, for I am
going campaigning myself, and expect to embark about the 3rd
or 4th of March for Java, touching at Madras, where I hope to
got on board the Modeste. It is so difficult to anticipate the
important, but delicate points likely to arise in the prosecution
of this enterprise, and it would be so impossible to decide
them satisfactorily without information, which cannot be ob-
tained at a distance, that T am satisfied I should acquit myself
imperfectly of this duty, if I did not approach, or ruther convey
myself to the very scene of action. My absence cannot be
shorter than six months, and may be somewhat more. . .

TRANSITION YEARS,

% Believe me ever, my dear sir,
“ Most sincerely and affectionately yours,
“ Mixto.”

After the lapse of a few days, in the interval of
which My. Scton’s answer had been received, Lord
Minto wrote again to Charles Metealfe on the sub-
Jject of the Delhi Residency, in a graver and more
business-like style:
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LORD MINTO T0 CHARLES METCALFE,

 Caleutta, February 26, 1811,
“My pEAR Siz,—I have reccived Mr. Seton's answer. He

accepts the government of Prince of Wales' Island with the

proviso that the appointment is to be considered temporary, and
that he shall be at liberty to return to Delbi when the par-
ticular emergency which now invites him to the castward shall
have passed away. That emergency is the proposed congquest
of the Datch settlements in Java. But I conceive the services
of Mr. Seton at Prince of Wales’ Island will continue to be
very important some time after the object has been accom-
plished at Java; for, considering the great distance of Calcutta,
I confess I should wish, that whoever is charged with the admi-
nistration of our new territories, should have the benefit of
communicating intermediately with Mr. Seton, and obtaining
such advice as his on the many novel and delicate affairs likely
to arise in the first period of our connexion with a new and
extensive country. I should, therefore, conjecture, that he may
be absent from Delhi at least one year. I dwell upon these
circumstances, as you will perceive that they affact your situa-
tion, and that your appointment to Delhi cannot be depended
upon as so permanent as I understood it was likely to be at the
date of my last letter. T truss, however, that you will feel no
disinclination to aceept it under the circumstanoes which T have
described. I am anxious that the temporary nature of the
arrangement should be known to the parties alone who are con-
cerned—I mean to My, Seton, and the few whose new appoint-
ments must be understood by themselves to be temporary. 1
propose that, in the event of My, Seton’s return to Delhi, you
ghould resume your - present mission; that YOUr EUCCessor
(Richard 'St-rachey) should return to the Foreign Settlements,
nn'ﬁ soon; with the condition, however, that if anything more
eligible than your present office should open during the interval,
Y2

L.



it shall be reserved for you, if no particular obstacle should
stand in the way.

« As T propose to sail on the 7th of March, if possible, and
your answer to this letter cannot be received at Caleutta so soon,
I shall leave your appointment at Delhi behind me, to be pub-
lished when your acceptance arrives. It will be absolute, as
you collect from this letter, in form; and nothing conditional or
provisional will appear upon the face of it. IFMr. Seton should
return, it will be time enough to explain the particulars which
attended your appointment.

¢ 1 have now to thank you, my dear sir, for your friendly
folicitations on the reduction of the French Islands; and being
aesured, as I am, of their sincerity, I hope you will believe that
vour kind concern in these events and in any influence they may
have upon my credit, is, next fo the public benefit, one of the
greatest and most sensible pleasures I experience on the occasion.
¢ Belieye me ever, my dear sir

‘¢ Sincerely and affectionately yours,
« Minro,”

TRANSITION YEARS,

The offer was accepted. But the acceptance had
been already assumed ; and before Metealfe's answer
was received, he had been formally appointed to act
as Resident at Delhi.  And now the Chief Secretary
congratulated him on the distinetion, aund intimated
his belief, that the new incumbent would soon be
permanently appointed to the honorable post :

MR, EDMONSTONE TO MR, METCALFE.

“ Caleutia, March 22, 1811.

“ My peEAR METCALFE, —1I am just favored with your
Jetter of the 10th instant. You will have found that your
acceptance of the Residency at Delhi has been presumed.
His Lordship, indeed, did net inform me that your appoint-
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ment was to be suspended uniil the arrival of a reply to his
proposition. I congratulate you sincerely on this highly
proper and merited distinction. You are, of course, aware,
that Scton is to be allowed to resume his place; but by your
present appointment you have got a lien upon it, which mus
secure your future permanent sucecession ; and that, too., at no
great distance of time ; for Seton will not certainly remain long
in the country. I join you in congratulations on our success
at the Mauritius. The expedition to the esstward is in for-
wardness, But the season is against us; and it will be months
before we can reach the place. Although our work is slow,
I trust, however, it issure. . . .
¢ Most sincerely yours,

“ N, B. EDMONSTONE."

So Charles Metealfe proceeded to Delhi,* and
Mr. Strachey, who had accompanied Elphinstone’s
mission in the capacity of Secretary, was appointed
Resident at Scindiah’s Court.

It was during the period embraced in this brief
chapter, that Charles Metcalfe laid the foundation of
the fortune which he subsequently amassed. "Whilst

* The grounds of Metcalfe’s selec-
ticn for this important postwere stated
offiially by Lord Minto in & minute,

to be conducted with undiminighed
success.

“The gentleman whom I propose

which he recorded under date I'eh. 25,
1811, and in which, after speaking of
Mr. Seton’s eminent services, hie says:
T should bewnwilling to withdraw
Afr, Beton from the duties of the Resi-
dencyat Delhi whicli Lie has discharged
withisuch distinguished ability and sue.
cess, and with such emineat advantage
to the publie, if' T were not convineed
that the gentleman whom I propose to
1@ his successor possesses qualifica-
tions which bear a strong affinity to
those of My, Seton, and that under
s suporintendence our important
nterests in that quarter will continue

for the situation iz Mr, Metcalfe.
His long personal experience and
agency in the politieal concerns of
that quarter, especially in the afiairs
of Lahore, and in the actual duties of
the Residency, combined with his ap«
proved talents, judgment, and dis:
cretion, his conciliatory manners and
firmness of character, qualify him in
a peculinr degree to be the succcssor
to Mr. Soton; and 1 mm pc}’:tu‘ddﬂl
that the charge of the extensive and
important affairs of that Resideney
eould not be transforred to more able
and efficient hands.”

L
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at Madras, not being overwhelmed with business, he
determined to begin keeping accounts of his pecu-
niary transactions, with undeviating regularity—and
he determined, moreover, to save money. With
such *good intentions > as these, the hell of finan-
cial embarrassment is too frequently paved. All
men at some period of their lives make these wise
resolutions ; but few have constancy to keep them.
From this time, however, Charles Metealfe kept, I
believe without intermission, a minute account of
his receipts and disbursements. He was the mosb
liberal and most generous of men—but he died in
possession of a fortune which would have creditably
sustained the peerage he had won.

At the beginning of 1810, when he had just com-
pleted his twenty-fifth year, he wrote on one of the
first pages of a new account-hook—¢ I commence this
account with a determination to lay by, henceforth
for ever, a sum equal to 1007 per mensem, to lay the
foundation of a fortune. I haye 2000 rupees per
mensem. I find by calculation, that my expenses
are at present 1200 rupees per mensem,* and I mean
to save 800==1002."" * The system which he adopted
was a very simple and intelligible one; and it is
curious to trace its working. ¢ It is my intention,”
he wrote, “at the end of every month to enter a
report on the result displayed by the accounts of

* To account for {his expen liture,

2y ) had et * an establishment of servants
which is by no means inconsiderable

at Calentta and another at Delhi.”

f

when it is rememberod that Charles
Motenlfo was a single man, and a
mamber, T prosume, of Lord Minto's
f:tmily af the fume, I ahionld mention
what he bimsell hesrecorded, that hie

He had been nnwilling that his de-
pendents whould suffer by his absarice,
and still rotained many of them in his
pay.

-~

%
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that month, in order that I may see how far the
plan I have laid down for myself succeeds. Now,
therefore, T proceed to the Financial Report for the
month of February. The amount expended in this
month is as follows. . . . . But before I note
it down, ¥ will lay down an outline of my plan for
the examination of the vesult of each month. I
take first the amount of my salary, which is at
present 2000 rupees. Trom this I deduct the
amount of all expenses that I am aware of having
occurred. KFrom the balance then left T deduct
LO0Z, or 800 rupees, to form a fund which is to
make my fortune, and which I will term the ¢ Ac-
cumulating Fund.’ The amount which remains
after these deductions is to form a fund for con-
tingent expenses, which I will call the ¢ Contingent
fund.’ If the Contingent Fund increases, and is
more than equal to meet all the demands that may
some upon if, then I may consider my finances to
be in a very prosperous state; and when it is safe
to do so, 1 may apply the surplus of the Contingent
Tund as an increase to the Accumulating Fund.
Onthe other hand, if the Contingent Fund should be
- unequal to meet the demands upon it, then T must
of necessity draw upon the Accumulating Fund, and
my scheme will have failed.”

For the first two or three months the result was
satisfactory. He regularly set aside the stipulated
1007. for the Accumulating Fund, and at the end of
M::chh he found that he had 982 rupees, Or some='
thing more than 1007, in the Contingent Fund. So

€ wrote in hig account-book, under date April 1,
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“The account for March presents a favorable pros-
pect of the practicability of the scheme which I have
laid down for myself.” It was so encouraging,
indeed, that a few days afterwards he sent off 200
rupees for the purchase of tickets in the Calcutta
Lottery.®* Those were days when most men enter-
tained hopes of growing rich per saltwm through
the agency of these Presidency Lotteries, and some
had so much faith in them that they dispensed alto-
gether with the slower process of hoarding money. It
was on account of this purchase that Metcalfe was
now obliged to record that the April results were
not as favorable as those of March. ¢ The account
for April,” he wrote, “though not so favorable as
that of March, still shows a progressive increase
both in the Accumulating and Contingent Funds.
But heavy expenses are coming on in May, the
prospect of which is alarming.” In this month of
May he passed from Madras to Calcutta, and he had
extraordinary expenses to meet at both places. The
system had not been sufficiently longin operation—
the Contingent Fund was not sufficiently full—to
bear such a strain upon it. So at the end of the
month, having found that nothing had been added
to the Accumulating Fund, and that there was a
deficieney of 106 rupees on the Contingent Fund,
he wrote in his memorandum-book: “The plan with
which I set out at the beginning of the year has

5 6 April 12, —~Wrote to Calcutta for July Memoranda any entrance undor
{wotickets in the Lottery to be drawn  the head of Lottery in the receipt side

in July. The dumage will be 400 of ‘the account,
rupiees,” I do not obeerve in the

L ﬁ
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thus been shown to have failed, and a deficit has
arisen to the amount above stated.”
In thus declaring the failure of his scheme he was
a little too candid. The result was not to be fairly
estimated after an experiment of only a few months.
One extraordinary item, entered in this month of
May, was sufficient to cover the entire deficit. It
is an item at which he had no need to blu sh, although
it disturhed, for a time, his financial projects, and
impelled him to record that he had failed—¢* Sud-
scription for the benefit of Dr. Reid’s family, 1000
Pupees.” In those days it was no uncommon thing
for some well-known and highly-esteemed member
of society, carried off suddenly by one of the discases
of the country, to leave a wife and family behind
him in a state of utter destitution. Nor was it an
uncommon thing for the friends and acquaintances
of the deceased-—and many who were neither friends
nor acquaintances—to raise a subscription for the
benefit of his family, sufficient to send them to Eng-
land, and to keep them from want for all the rest of
their days. It was to one of these subyscriptions
that Charles Metealfe had now subscribed 1000
rupees. If he had not subscribed it he could have
added the monthly 1007. to his Accumnlating Fund,
and retained a small balance in the ('.‘onti_ngf:nr. one.
"But the failure—if it were one_was soon re-
deemed. e had soarcely vecorded it ywhen he dis-
covered that he was richer than he had si ipposed. e
I_‘ecui‘.'ucl his Aceount-current from his Agents, and
1t appeared from the state of it that he ‘could make

L
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good the deficit of which he had spoken, and set his
system at work again. At the commencement of
‘the mercantile year there was a balance in his
favor, which, after deducting the amounts belonging
{0 his Accumulating Fund, and the payments he
had since made on the Contingent account, still left
him for present purposes more than 15,000 rupees.
% This last remainder,” he wrote, T shall at present
throw into the Contingent Fund, but when my ac-
counts (with Government) come to be settled, I
expect that it will be all absorbed.” There was
moncy owing to him on the other side, and as all
{hat he wanted was a little floating capital, his sys-
{em was soon again in successful operation. Month
after month he added 100Z to his Accumulating
TFund ; and at the end of the year, with 12007. to his
oredit on this account, he had a balance of 2000
mipees in the Contingent Fund to commence the
year without misgivings.®* Trom this time he went
on steadily, adding to his savings—sometimes spend-
ing more than the amount of his salary, but never
more than his income. Money brought high interest
in those days, and the Accumulating Fund soon be-
eame procluctive.

I need not pursue any further the history of
Charles Metealfe's accumulations. I purposed only
to show hoyy he set about the work; and the little
which T have exhibited of his system is not without

* 1t had. at oney time reached 5000 there were someé extraordinnry dis-
roptes. Buob his jslary at Scindiah’s  bursements.  Among otliers, © I‘mll
Court was less by 600 rapess a month - at Madras remninder of subscription
than it had becn at Lahore and Ma-  to a masquerade given in Janoury last
Aray, In the Tsecember aceount, too, 1500 rupecs.” -
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hoth .erest and instruction. There is one re-
mark, T10Wew3r which ought to be made in this
place, for it is necessary to the right understanding
of th- fine character which I am attempting to illus-
trate. Even at this early period of his career, when
his accumulations were but scanty, he was a ready
lender to men less fortunate or less prudent than
himself, There are many still living—and many
have passed away—who have tasted largely of
Charles Metcalfe’s open-handed kindliness; and
some who owe all their success in life to his season-
able intervention in their behalf. As he grew older
he did not grow more worldly-wise. But it was an
abiding source of consolation to him, that although
now and then his generosity may have been mis-
placed, it fell for the most part on good soil, and
fructified in gratitude, if not in reformation.*

* In tho cutries of the year 1810
there is the sum of 2711 rupees (abont
300L) lent to Lieutonant C——. The
Dawie, with characteristic delieacy, is
only thus initialised In the account-
book. At the end of the year Met-
calfe wrote: ““Cash lent or advanced
18 hereafler to be put down as an lu-

efMcient balance, and nob as. a dis~
bursement. The money lent, there-
fore, 'as per August and Novembes,
1810, accounts, to Licutenant C—, 18
now to be brought into an Inefficient
Fund.” As years advanced, the Ineffi-
cient Fund amounted to some thou-
ganda,



THE DELHI RESIDENCY.

CHAPTER X.

[1811—1814.]
THE DELHI RESIDENCY.

Dnties of the Resident—Metecalfe’s Opinions of his Position—Letters tc Mrs,
Monson — Appointed Permanently to the Residency — Drawbacks and
Annoyances—The Royal Family of Delhi—Removal of Metealfe's Assist-
ants—Letter from Lord Minto—Expenses of the Residency—Censures of

the Court of Directors—Metcalfe's Defence—Administration of the Delhi
Territory.

So Charles Metealfe, now at the age of twenty-six,
found himself the incumbent of an appointment
coveted by the oldest officers of both Services—an
appointment which, in respect of its importance, its
responsibility, and its distinction, was not exceeded
by any other in India below the seats at the Council-

boards of Government. The duties of the Delhi Re-

gident were onerous and complex. The Residents
at other Courts were simply diplomatists. They
were hound {o confine themselves to the political
dutics of their situation, and to refrain from all
interference with the internal administration of
the country in which they resided. But the Delhi
Resident was at once a diplomatist and an adminis-
trator. It was his duty not only to superintend the

L.
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affairs of the pensioned Mogul and his family, but
to manage the political relations of the British Go-
vernment with a wide expanse of country studded
with petty principalities, ignorant alike of their
duties and their interests, and often in their igno-
rance vexatious in the extreme. It was his duty,
{00, to superintend the internal government of all
the Delhi territory— to preside over the machinery of
revenue collection and the administration of Justice,
and to promote by all possible means the develop-
ment of the resources of the country and the industry
and happiness of the people. He addressed himsell
to his work with a brave resolution. He might,
perhaps, have taken deeper interest in it, if he had
been more certain of his tenure of office—if he had
believed that he would remain to see the results—
but he could not have labored more zealously or
more diligently in his vocation. The return of Mz,
Seton to Delhi was always probable; sometimes it
seemed almost certain. And there was something
dispiriting in this. TFor the longer Charles Metcalfe
sojourned at the imperial city, the more attached he
grew to the place and to the people, whilst the Resi-
dency at Scindiah’s Court, to which he would have
returned, had no attractions for him. But what-
ever might be the event, his professional success was
now an established fact ; and only Death could inter-
pose itself between him and the great goal of Fame
and Fortune.

He had social duties to perform as well as those
of diplomacy and administration. The Resident was
a great man—he had a Court of his own, and a large



monthly allowance from Government to support it
in a state of becoming splendor. He kept open
house. He had what was called a ¢ Family”’—all
the officers attached to the Residency, with their
wives and children, were members of it. In the
Resident’s house all passing travellers of rank found
ready entertainment. Hospitality here put on ifs
best apparel. The new Delhi Resident was just the
man to carry himself bravely as the representative
of the British nation at an Bastern Court. His libe-
rality was of the best kind. It was Charles Metealfe's
nature to give freely; he was bountiful without
ostentation, and no man ever left his house without
carrying with him a grateful recollection of the
kindliness and the geniality of his host, and cherish-
ing it as one of those pleasant memories which he
would nof willingly let die.

But it may be doubted whether Charles Metecalfe
was happy at this time. He was naturally of a
cheerful disposition, and he had too much mental
oceupation to dwell long or frequently upon the ne-
cessary drawhacks of his situation. But there were
times when he thought that for even his brilliant
position ke had paid somewhat too dearly; and when
he took up his pen to discourse with some member
of his distant family, the old clouds which had
gathered over him during the first years of his Indian
residence began to overshadow him again, and he
spoke doubtfully of the apparent advantages of his
present, and the promises of his future life. In the
following letter to his Aunt he dwells feelingly upon
the darker side of even the most successful Indian

THE DEWHI RESIDENCY.
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LETTER TO MRS. MONSON 1
een
carcer, TIis cousin, William Monson, -

intended for the Indian Civil S_e-iivice, ’b'ut- .
only child, and his mother, w1t‘1 a wise &
which it will he seen Charles Metcalfe hquh_ _
mended, subsequently determined to detain L
home:

11

CHARLES METCALTE TO THE HON. MES. Mi?_}{%ﬂ!_’_.
# Delhi Residency, Sepfember 10, 1814,

My pEAREST AUNT,—I have had the plsasure of receiving
your letter of January 7 So far am .I from condefnnmg you
for resigning William’s intended appeiutment to .tlus country,
that I decidedly think you have done that which is bes.t calc-u—
lated to promote his happiness anrllyonr own, by keeping him
at home. My father, I conclude, will blame you; for he thinks
nothing equal to an appointmen; to this country. I confess
that my ideas are different. Why should you make yourself
and William miserable by parting 1ever perhaps to meet again?
Why doom him to transportatiar irom everything deur to him?
What is there sir fhdia to recompense for such sufferings?
Fortunes =8 you justly observe, are not made rapidly. Take
my situation. I have been more than eleven years from Eng-
land; and it will be eertainly more than eleven years before 1
can return. In these twenty-two or twenty-four years the
best part of myy life will have passed away—that part in which
allmy feelings will have been most alive to the different sensa~
tions of happiness and misery arising out of different cirenm-
stances. I left my father and mother just as I became ae-
quainted with them as a man. 1 haye not once had their
cheering smile to encourage my lubors in my profession. When
I return, should they both be alive— which I pray to God that
they may be—1I shall, indeed, have the happiness of attending on

* The present

Lord Monson, to rondercd to me in 1ho course of my
whom I am indebt

ed for these letters preparatica of this Memoir.
and mueh other valuable assistance

L
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their
to Wiiw years; but, alas! how much cause shall T have

th 55t I was doomed by my fate not to see them from

g~ boyhood to those of their extreme old age? But

., 1at they should no be alive, and when one considers

; father must live to he eighty to allow me to see him

LLisenough to make one tremble, though I still hope. Sup-

I say, that they should not be alive, what will then be my

v on? The thought is too horrible to dwell upon. See

sters 7+ Lleft them children, I shall find them old women

~married, Pe‘;‘]‘mps, into families which will not eare one

farthing about me, and whose habits it will not suit me io

associate with. Take the worst, and what o melancholy situa-

tion I may be in when T return 1o England!  Where will bo

my connexions, my friendships, and even my acquaintance?

Unknown in society; and even shurmed s being an Tndian, T

eertainly will never push my way into the society of fine lords

and ladies, who may turn up their noses and think me highly
honored by being in their prsence. .

“Neither will I ever fall back and take up my post in the
fanks of Indian society. 1 recdlest what it was, and know
what it is, and that society will not' suit me. Tehall not be
able to afford to spend all my income on dinners ant, halls,
houses, coaches, and scrvants. Money was made for bettor uses,
and, by God's grace, I hope to apply mine to some of them, A
dull, solitary life, is the one that I shall, most likely, taking all
chances, be obliged to pursve. And what shall I have gained
by muking so many sacrifices? Money—and not more, per-
haps, than I might have gained (I allow not probably) by a
profession in Englind. And it must be remembered, that I
have been vacommonly fortunate in m Y present profession. 8o
you sce, my dear Aunt, [ think you perfectly right. Do not
snppose from the above, thet 1 am unhappy or discontonted, I
have long since reconciled toyeelf 1o Ty fate, and am contented
and 4s happy as one far from Lis fiiends can be. I do not allow
anpleasant thoughts to enter my mind, and it I do ot enjo
whai is beyond my reach—ihe inexprossible pleasure of amily

L.
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Society—I at least am always cheerful, and never unhappy.
My father did what he thought best for me; and it is satis-
facbory to me to reflect, that my career in India, except as to
fortune, must have answered his expectations. It has been
successful beyond any merits, that I am aware of, in myself.
I hold now, as Resident at Delhi, a situation which I consider
without exception in every respect the highest in the country
beneath the members of Government; and I do not wish to
quit this situation until I quit Indie.

“I hope to lay by at the rate of 30007 per anaum, which in
twelve or fifteen years ought to be enough to enable me to
live at home in the plain manner in which I mean to live as an
Old Bachelor; for, you must know, that T have no thought of
¢ver marrying, as I shall never have money enough for it, unlese
I consent, which T will not do, to spend the whole of it on what
1s termed living. In that case, I should be poor in the midst of
thousands, Then only can I consider myself rich when I have
the command of money to gratify such inclinations as may
anss,, L0 L

T am ever, my dear Aunt,
“ Your attached nephew,

“ (0. T. METCALFE."

FROM THE SAME TO THE SAME,
* Delhi Residency, November 16, 1811.

“My DEAR AUNT,—From circumstances which are likely
1o last as long as T remain at Delhi, I am now so overloasded
with business that I can never get rid of it before nine o'clock
at night. This will acecount to you for my not writing oftencr.
I am obliged to let my family dine without me in order fo
write this; but the pleasure of communicating with you is not
to be lost. . . . . R—— has some idea of going to Eng-
land, but I do not conccive that it will be folfilled. An old
Indian takes o long time to determine to quit his emoluments,
and put his foot on board a ship for Bngland. Muny is the

YOL. I. 2
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Indian who dies of staying ¢one year longer’ in the country,
like the gentieman on whose tombstone is inseribed,

Here lies Mr. Wandermere,
Who was to have gone home next year.

1 hope that this will be neither R 's case nor mine. . . .

“I am likely to return to Scindiah's camp, for Mr. Seton
threatens to return to Delli. He is now Governor of Prince
of Weles' Island; but he accepted that appointment on condi-
tion, that if he should not like to keep it, he might return to
Delhi, In his last letter to me, he announces his intention of
availing himself of that condition; and I shall be obliged to
turn out for him, to my great regret. I shall be no loser in a
peeuniary way; but L consider the Residency at Delhi infinitely
superior to that in Scindiah’s camp.

I expect, or rather hope, that Theophilus will marry before
he quits England.  He is calculated for marriage; and requires
ity I think, For my part, I shall never marry. My prineipal
reason for thinking that Z pusitively shall never marry, is the
diffieulty of two dispositions uniting so exactly as to produce
that universal harmony which is requisite to form the perfect
happiness that is indispensable to make the married state
desirable,  But little do I know what is to befall me. .

“ Ever most affectionately yours,
“ 0. T. METCALFE."”

A few more passages from letters written to the
same muchi-respected correspondent during the first
years of his residence at Delhi—passages illustrative
of the feelings with which he regarded his position
in India—may be given in this place. They show
how little he had ceased to yearn after home —how
Little time had impaired the strength of his domes-
tic allections:

L



L

Sl s L Toumorrow will be ChI’iStmnq..day, wlien
all friends meet at home, I have a party of fifty to dine with
me, among whom I cannot recken one real friend. What a
blank it is to live in such a society! I have lately been over-
whelmed with visitors—Sir George and Lady Nugent,* Colonel
and Lady Charlotte Murray, and twenty others of the same
party, have been my guests for eight or ten days. They are
gone. I found them all very pleasant. But I often wish that
I had some cottage toretire to, where I niight live in obscurity
and uninterrupted solitude for a time. I feel myself ouf of my
clement in attempting to support the appearance which attaches
to the situation I hold.”—[ Delki, December 24, 1812.]
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“. . . .Tomfisarived. . . . . Poor fellow! He
has 2 long time before him; but, perhaps, not longer than I have.
It is not improbable that I may remain eighteen or twenty
years miore. . . . . I canmot say that I approve of the
plan of sending children out to Indis for all their lives. There
s 1o other service in which a man does not see his friends
sometimes. Herc it is perpetual banishment. There was a
good reason for sen g sons to India when fortunes were made
rapidly, and they returned home. But if a man is to slave all
his life, he had better do so, in my opinion, in his own country,
where he may enjoy the society of his friends, which I call en-
Joying life. . . . . Donotsupposcthat Iam discontented,
and make myself unhappy. It is my fate, and I sm reconeiled
tor it. The time may come; if ever T am able to set myself
down at home with & comfortable fortune, when I shall confess
that my destiny was a favorable one, and shall be able to look
back to past anmoyances with composure. But can anything
be a recompense to mo in this world for not secing my dear
and honored father, from the days of my boyhood to the day of
Lis death—and, perbaps, the tame with regard to my mother?

* Bir George Nugent was tho new Theaphilus Matealfs, who had coma
Cammandor-in-Chiof. ont to India in the Company’s Civil
t His younger brother; Thomss Service,
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